# Environmental Psychology Matters

## Robert Gifford

Department of Psychology, University of Victoria, Victoria V8W 3P5, Canada; email: rgifford@uvic.ca

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2014. 65:541-79

First published online as a Review in Advance on September 11, 2013

The *Annual Review of Psychology* is online at http://psych.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115048

Copyright © 2014 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

## **Keywords**

proenvironmental behavior, climate change, nature, place attachment, built environments, interventions, virtual environments

#### Abstract

Environmental psychology examines transactions between individuals and their built and natural environments. This includes investigating behaviors that inhibit or foster sustainable, climate-healthy, and nature-enhancing choices, the antecedents and correlates of those behaviors, and interventions to increase proenvironmental behavior. It also includes transactions in which nature provides restoration or inflicts stress, and transactions that are more mutual, such as the development of place attachment and identity and the impacts on and from important physical settings such as home, workplaces, schools, and public spaces. As people spend more time in virtual environments, online transactions are coming under increasing research attention. Every aspect of human existence occurs in one environment or another, and the transactions with and within them have important consequences both for people and their natural and built worlds. Environmental psychology matters.

## **Contents**

THE BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE OF HUMAN TRANSACTIONS WITH	
AND WITHIN BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENTS	543
PROENVIRONMENTAL CONCERN AND BEHAVIOR	544
Childhood Experience	544
Knowledge and Education	544
Personality	545
Values and Worldviews	545
Felt Responsibility, Moral Concerns, and Commitment	547
Frugality, Diversity, and Empowerment Attitudes	
Place Attachment	547
Norms, Habits, and Defaults: Behavioral Momentum	547
Affect	548
Demographic Factors	548
Measures	549
MAJOR AND MACRO THEORETICAL APPROACHES	550
MESO THEORIES	550
PROENVIRONMENTAL BEHAVIOR IS STILL	
INSUFFICIENT: WHY?	551
The Main Theories Are Too Exclusive or Too Inclusive	552
Psychological Barriers to Proenvironmental Behavior	552
Self-Reports Do Not Change Behavior	552
Four Ways Forward	553
CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN BEHAVIOR	553
Mitigative and Adaptive Responses	554
High- Versus Low-Impact Mitigation Behaviors	555
Impact-Oriented Versus Intent-Oriented Mitigation Behaviors	555
Curtailment Versus Efficiency Behaviors	555
INTERVENTION SCIENCE	556
Informational and Communication Strategies	556
Antecedent Versus Consequence Strategies	
Informational Versus Structural Strategies	
NATURE: THE CAPRICIOUS RESTORATIVE AGENT	
Measuring the Connection	558
Causes and Consequences of the Connection	558
Nature Restores	559
Restoration Is Not Limited to Nature	559
Nature Is Not Always Nice	559
PLACE ATTACHMENT AND IDENTITY	559
Person, Place, and Process	560
The Functions of Place Attachment	561
How Place Matters	562
SOCIAL DESIGN	562
HOME AND NEIGHBORHOOD	564
VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENTS	565

BASIC PSYCHOLOGICAL PROCESSES AND THE ENVIRONMENT	565
Environmental Perception and Evaluation	565
Spatial Cognition and Wayfinding	566
Responses to Noise	567
Social Space	567
Physical Activity	568
CONCLUSION	

# THE BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE OF HUMAN TRANSACTIONS WITH AND WITHIN BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENTS

Wherever you go, there you are—and it matters. This is the fundamental premise of environmental psychology: We are always embedded in a place. In fact, we are always nested within layers of place, from a room, to a building, to a street, to a community, to a region, to a nation, and to the world. If, instead, we happen to be in a vehicle, an urban park, on the water, or in a wilderness, we are still somewhere. Person-place influences are both mutual and crucial. We shape not only buildings but also the land, the waters, the air, and other life forms—and they shape us.

Environmental psychology includes theory, research, and practice aimed at improving human relations with the natural environment and making the built environment more humane. Considering the enormous investment society makes in developing and shaping the physical environment, and the huge current and potential costs of misusing nature and natural resources, environmental psychology is a key component of human, animal, and environmental welfare. It is essential for policy-making (Vlek 2000). Environmental psychology matters (Gifford 2002).

Environmental psychologists continue to investigate fundamental psychological processes such as environmental perception, spatial cognition, social space, human development, and personality as they filter and structure interactions with the environment. The traditional emphasis of the field on the built environment has remained stable (Giuliani & Scopelliti 2009), and the recent growth of the field stems from investigations of proenvironmental behavior, climate change, interactions with nature, and attachment to place.

Environmental psychology began half a century ago because psychology had rarely extended its concern to the physical setting of behavior; for the most part, the discipline proceeded in its investigations as if people acted and interacted nowhere, in a black void. By implication, the physical locus of existence did not matter, but in reality, of course it does. Obvious as this fundamental premise may be, and even though the first *Annual Review of Psychology* survey of the field appeared 41 years ago (Craik 1973), in operational terms the discipline as a whole still does not fully accept it: Most departments of psychology in 2014 do not include even one environmental psychologist. Those with two or more faculty members who are primarily dedicated to the field probably can be counted on one's fingers.

Despite this severe shortage of landed scientists, research in environmental psychology has somehow managed to flourish. Two comprehensive handbooks have appeared (Bechtel & Churchman 2002, Clayton 2012), and a third is in preparation. The number of submissions to the *Journal of Environmental Psychology* (JEP) quadrupled from 2002 to 2012. This explosion of interest is partially rooted in the global development in the field; *JEP* received submissions from over 40 countries in 2012. The 2008 American Psychological Association Presidential Address was devoted to psychology's contribution to a sustainable environment (Kazdin 2009).

Perhaps this is because the wider society gradually has awakened to the importance of the natural environment over approximately the same half-century as the lifespan of environmental psychology, including its fragility and vulnerability to human actions and its potential for enhancing human life. Over the same period, the ability of environmental psychology to contribute ideas and solutions to the design of the built environment has been realized. One gets the feeling that, perhaps more than in some other areas of psychology, environmental psychologists are driven by personal conviction to a cause.

This article focuses on key developments in environmental psychology over the past decade or so, but it does not refrain from reaching further back where necessary. The last broadband *ARP* survey of the field was 18 years ago (Sundstrom et al. 1996), which forces the present attempt to update readers to be much more selective than its author would wish.

#### PROENVIRONMENTAL CONCERN AND BEHAVIOR

Many environmental problems are rooted in human behavior and can thus be solved by understanding behavior. Proenvironmental behavior matters. Influences on proenvironmental behavior include childhood experience; knowledge and education; personality; perceived behavioral control; values, attitudes, and worldviews of various kinds; felt responsibility and moral commitment; place attachment; norms and habits; goals; affect; and many demographic factors. These influences also quite likely combine to determine behavioral outcomes; that is, they interact. Thus, one important challenge is to learn more about how these influences moderate and mediate one another.

A second challenge is to learn which domains of environment-related behaviors (i.e., the big five related to energy conservation, transportation, food, waste disposal, and material purchases) are more or most influential in which social domains: private (e.g., at home), public (e.g., writing letters or attending meetings), organizational (at work or school), or activist (Stern 2000).

A third challenge is to widen and deepen the field's consideration of how society works in terms of the production and consumption of goods and services and how broader social and political influences contribute to the formation of values, attitudes, and behavior (Uzzell & Räthzel 2009).

The many influences on environmental concern and behavior are considered next.

## **Childhood Experience**

Children who spend time in nature are more likely to engage in proenvironmental behavior as adults (Cheng & Monroe 2012); this is more true when the time is spent in "wilder" than in "domesticated" nature (Wells & Lekies 2006). They are also more likely to spend time in nature as adults (Thompson et al. 2008).

## **Knowledge and Education**

A recent summary of 15 knowledge surveys concluded that Americans are quite knowledgeable about some environmental problems (e.g., what renewable resources are, where garbage goes, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Of course, influences at other levels of analysis also influence proenvironmental choices, such as structural barriers, economic and political factors, and technological advances (Gifford 2008b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Finally, but importantly, we must note that environment-friendly behavior is often undertaken for nonenvironmental reasons, such as to save money or to improve one's health (cf. Whitmarsh 2009). In engaging in behavior choices like these, individuals have been called "honeybees" because, like those insects pollinating fruit trees in the pursuit of a nonenvironmental, self-interested goal, they inadvertently provide important environmental benefits (Gifford 2011).

what causes habitat destruction) but less knowledgeable about others (e.g., climate change, energy production, and water quality) (Robelia & Murphy 2012). Making informed proenvironmental choices obviously depends on having correct knowledge. Even self-reported knowledge, fallible as it may be, seems to predict proenvironmental behavior reasonably well (Fielding & Head 2012).

Education is also important. Individuals with more education in general are more concerned about the environment. Education alone often does not lead to more proenvironmental behavior, but it serves as a priming agent. For example, reading classic environmental books such as Rachel Carson's *Silent Spring* has been associated with more frequent environmental behavior (Mobley et al. 2010). Some forms of education, such as by peers in a workplace (Carrico & Riemer 2011), in a classroom where the desired behavior is proximate (Werner et al. 2012), or in teaching people how to reduce the smoke from their woodstoves (Hine et al. 2011), have been shown to be effective.

## Personality

The Big Five personality factors represent much of the normal personality domain. Openness has been related to more proenvironmental activities (Fraj & Martinez 2006) and to more frequent proenvironmental behaviors, but this relation was fully mediated by environmental attitudes and connection to nature (Markowitz et al. 2012). In a German study, greater openness and greater agreeableness and, to a lesser extent, more conscientiousness and less emotional stability were associated with greater environmental concern (Hirsh 2010). Openness, agreeableness, and conscientiousness were strongly linked to environmental engagement across both persons and nations (Milfont & Sibley 2012). Agreeableness, conscientiousness, and less Machiavellianism were related to more recycling (Swami et al. 2011).

Consideration of future consequences—the tendency to establish and achieve goals and to plan strategies for meeting long-term obligations—was positively related to engaging in sustainable behaviors (Corral-Verdugo & Pinheiro 2006, Milfont & Gouveia 2006), including choosing public transport more often (Joireman et al. 2004).

Internal locus of control and self-efficacy have been associated with stronger proenvironmental intentions and behavior, including less use of cars for commuting (Abrahamse et al. 2009), more recycling in mainland China (Tang et al. 2011) and in Spain (Tabernero & Hernández 2011), and less electricity use among Danish consumers (Thøgersen & Grønhøj 2010). Locus of control also seems to moderate the link between one's values and proenvironmental behavior (Engqvist Jonsson & Nilsson 2013). In order for values to be expressed in proenvironmental behavior, people apparently must believe they have some control over events.

#### Values and Worldviews

Schwartz's (1992) value theory has been modified to fit environmental issues (e.g., Stern et al. 1993), and support for the categorization of values into biospheric, egocentric, and altruistic dimensions has been reported (e.g., de Groot & Steg 2007). Associations between values and environmental concern seem, at least in a study that included six widely dispersed nations, to be quite consistent (Schultz et al. 2005). Not surprisingly, persons who hold more altruistic, prosocial, and biospheric values report favoring environmental preservation, whereas those who see the environment as a source of resources to be consumed tend to hold self-enhancement values (Kaiser & Byrka 2011, Milfont & Gouveia 2006, Nilsson et al. 2004, Nordlund & Garvill 2002), and these egoistic values result in less environmental concern (de Groot & Steg 2010).

However, their relations with proenvironmental behavior typically are weak, so moderating and mediating variables such as personal norms and beliefs are needed to satisfactorily predict behavior from values (Nordlund & Garvill 2003).

These environmental values are related to the ways that individuals construe themselves. People with independent self-construal (i.e., individuals who differentiate themselves from others) tend to have egoistic values and to report being competitive about managing resources; those with interdependent self-construal (i.e., people who relate to others) tend toward sharing resources; and those with meta-personal self-construal (i.e., individuals who feel fundamentally interconnected with all living things) tend to have biospheric values and to report they would cooperate more in a commons dilemma (Arnocky et al. 2007). Despite these self-reports, in a commons dilemma microworld, participants with prosocial and proself orientations made similar resource management choices (Hine et al. 2009). However, their motives may differ: Proselfs may view harvesting restraint by others as a chance to maximize their own profit, whereas prosocials may be trying to maximize the group's outcome by compensating for what they think might be too much restraint by others. This was supported in that proselfs responded to overharvesting by others by increasing their own harvests, whereas prosocials' harvesting did not increase in response to others' lack of restraint.

In terms of political, economic, and technological values, individuals who value free-market principles, view technology as the solution to environmental problems, and believe that economics is the best measure of progress tend to have less environmental concern (Heath & Gifford 2006).

Postmaterialist values typically are held by more affluent citizens who have fewer worries about the necessities of life; they tend to be concerned with higher-level goals and actions such as self-improvement, personal freedom, and providing direct input to government. Holding postmaterialist values and political competence is related to an increased interest in environmental political action (e.g., Oreg & Katz-Gerro 2006), probably because these values are associated with environmental concern and perceived threat, which when combined with these individuals' sense of control, leads to a willingness to sacrifice and thus causes the adoption of proenvironmental behaviors.

Beliefs about the nature of nature are related to one's environmental concern. Those who believe that nature is ephemeral (that it is delicate and fragile and even small disturbances will have drastic consequences) are most concerned; those who hold nature-benign worldviews (that nature is very capable of adapting) are least concerned (Poortinga et al. 2003). Another widespread worldview held by individuals is that threats to the environment are weaker in their own area than in distant places (Gifford et al. 2009). Egalitarians believe this more strongly, and individualists believe it less strongly (Lima & Castro 2005).

However, relations between values and environmental attitudes may not be as simple as some of these findings imply. People have multiple values, and the relations between values must be considered. For example, appeals to environmental values are more effective in increasing proenvironmental behavior than are appeals to self-interest (financial) values (Bolderdijk et al. 2013) or even appeals to the combination of environmental and financial values (Evans et al. 2013). When two values conflict, the difference between the pre-existing level of endorsement of the two values predicts one's environmental attitudes better than the endorsement level of either single value (Howes & Gifford 2009). Moreover, values may combine with motivational style to more strongly predict proenvironmental intentions; for example, the more people hold altruistic and biospheric values and are self-determined as a motivational style, the more they act proenvironmentally (de Groot & Steg 2010).

## Felt Responsibility, Moral Concerns, and Commitment

As one might expect, feeling responsible is an important part of environmental concern. This feeling of responsibility apparently stems largely from a sense of guilt (Ferguson & Branscombe 2010). The discourse on environment in such places as newspaper editorials and public service announcements tends to evoke harm and care as the moral foundations for action. These concerns tend to resonate more with liberals, which may be why liberals usually have more proenvironmental attitudes. However, when proenvironmental messages are framed in terms of purity as a moral foundation, conservatives' attitudes toward the environment move much closer to those of liberals (Feinberg & Willer 2013). Finally, making a small symbolic commitment, such as to reuse towels in a hotel, can lead to a considerable (25%–40%) increase in towel reuse and towel hanging (Baca-Motes et al. 2013).

## Frugality, Diversity, and Empowerment Attitudes

Three other attitudes appear to assist in the understanding of proenvironmental concern and behavioral intentions. Positive attitudes toward frugality predict intentions to reduce energy choices (Fujii 2006). Positive attitudes toward sociocultural diversity and biodiversity also predict proenvironmental behavior (Corral-Verdugo et al. 2009). If one expects to feel empowered—that is, to develop a sense of self-efficacy and solidarity—one is more likely to participate in the development of a proenvironmental program (Maeda & Hirose 2009).

#### Place Attachment

If individuals have a strong attachment to a place, they probably want to protect it (Scannell & Gifford 2013). In one study, adding place attachment to the standard values-beliefs-norms (VBN) model doubled the predictability of whether people would conserve native plants (Raymond et al. 2011). However, place attachment comes in multiple varieties, and not all are equally related to proenvironmental behavior: Natural place attachment but not civic place attachment appears to have that connection (Scannell & Gifford 2010a).

#### Norms, Habits, and Defaults: Behavioral Momentum

Much of today's behavior simply follows from yesterday's behavior. This has been investigated in terms of norms, habits, and defaults, but perhaps an encompassing term for this is behavioral momentum. In terms of norms, if one believes that the "usual thing to do" is to recycle (a descriptive norm), one is likely to recycle. Personal norms represent one's sense of moral obligation toward taking action, for example, to oppose nuclear energy (de Groot & Steg 2010), to reduce car use (Abrahamse et al. 2009), or to conserve water (Corral-Verdugo & Frías 2006). Subjective or injunctive norms represent one's sense that significant others expect a certain pattern of behavior. For example, parents can create norms in young children to recycle and reuse paper (Matthies et al. 2012). Local norms are based on physical proximity; they seem particularly relevant for behaviors that occur in a specific proximate location (Fornara et al. 2011).

Evidence about the influence of norms is strangely mixed. One study reports that in a survey normative influence was a better predictor of proenvironmental behavior than other beliefs, and in a field study norms produced the greatest behavior change, although participants in both studies claimed that norms were the least influential factor (Nolan et al. 2008). In contrast, a recent meta-analysis that examined a variety of social influences (block leaders, public commitment, modeling,

group feedback, social comparison feedback, and social norms) across 29 studies found that norms were the least potent influence on behavior (W. Abrahamse & L. Steg, manuscript under review).

Perhaps this is because the norm-behavior link is not as straightforward as it appears. For example, what happens if a person is faced with multiple norms, and the norms conflict? When an injunctive norm conflicts with a descriptive norm, behavior intentions weaken (Smith et al. 2012). However, other work suggests that norm conflict can actually strengthen perceived environmental effectiveness if the person has a positive attitude toward the issue (McDonald et al. 2013). Nevertheless, when people see evidence of counter-norm behavior (e.g., litter) in the presence of information proscribing that behavior, such as a "Do Not Litter" sign, they often will engage in antinorm behavior, that is, add to the litter (Keizer et al. 2008).

Norms can become habits, a second form of behavioral momentum. Unfortunately, the obvious approach to measuring habit—asking about a person's past behavior—may not be an adequate way of measuring it (Knussen & Yule 2008). Assessing habits may not be as straightforward as it appears. A third form of behavioral momentum is choosing the default. Often, people will say they prefer the green alternative but in fact they often tend to (passively) "choose" whichever default is offered to them (Pichert & Katsikopoulos 2008). Clearly, the policy strategy implied by this finding is to make the green option the default.

#### Affect

Emotions play a role in proenvironmental concern and behavior. For example, a Swedish study reports that worry, hope, and joy play a role in recycling (Ojala 2008). Having an affective connection to nature significantly predicts the intention to engage with it (Hinds & Sparks 2008). Anticipating unpleasant emotions predicts the desire to engage in proenvironmental actions (Carrus et al. 2008). On the other hand, positive affect toward one's pollution-emitting device weakens one's support for policy measures that would restrict its use and for the willingness to switch to a less-polluting device (Hine et al. 2007).

#### **Demographic Factors**

Age, gender, wealth, religion, urban-rural residence, and identification with a group have been related to environmental concern. Older people generally report more proenvironmental concern or behavior than younger people (e.g., Grønhøj & Thøgersen 2009), but not always (e.g., Sardianou 2007).

Gender differences are inconsistent. In some studies, women report stronger environmental attitudes, concerns, and behaviors than men (e.g., Scannell & Gifford 2013). However, in China, women are more engaged than men in domestic environmental behaviors (e.g., recycling), but outside the home (e.g., environmental organization donations) no gender differences are exhibited, and women express lower levels of concern than men (Xiao & Hong 2010). A possible reason for this pattern is that health and safety, which are threatened by problematic environments are more important to women, particularly women with children at home (see, e.g., Dietz et al. 2002).

One generalization is that environmentalists tend to be middle-class or upper-middle-class individuals. Environmental concern also appears to be related to wealth on the global scale; it has a clear positive relation with national gross domestic product per capita (Franzen 2003). Of course, not everyone in wealthier places is environmentally concerned; for example, conservative white males in the United States clearly are less concerned, on average, than are other US demographic groups (McCright & Dunlap 2012). Meanwhile, some research concludes that citizens

of developing countries have as much, or more, environmental concern as do those of developed countries (Mostafa 2012). Perhaps the resolution of these apparently contradictory findings is that citizens of poorer countries are more concerned about local environmental problems because the problems are salient to them, whereas citizens of wealthy countries are more concerned about global problems because they can afford a more cosmopolitan perspective, given that they have fewer local environmental problems.

The hypothesis that environmental concern is rooted in religious beliefs and values has often been debated. One view within the Judeo-Christian religious tradition is that the Earth was created for people to master and use; the associated implicit belief is that humans are separate from nature, and that belief enables people to exploit nature's resources for their own benefit. However, others within the Judeo-Christian tradition hold stewardship of nature as an ethic. The stewardship ethic also applies in principle for Muslims; humans, according to Islam, are merely a part of the holistic system of life created by Allah, and although humans have the right to survive, they have been given the role of responsible leadership on earth.

Empirical research on this issue remains divided. One recent study found that no differences exist between Christians and non-Christians in the perception of general environmental threats and that Christians judged the threat of genetically modified crops to be more serious than did non-Christians (Biel & Nilsson 2005). Another study found that Islamic religious teachings are associated with proenvironmental behavior, thus lending support to the theory that an Islamic environmental ethic exists (Rice 2006).

People who live in rural areas experience the environment in very different ways from their urban counterparts; doubtless most inhabitants of rural areas are more in touch with nature. Does that result in greater or lesser environmental concern or behavior? Again, the results are mixed. In China, residents of larger cities are more likely to engage in proenvironmental behaviors than are residents of smaller cities (Chen et al. 2011). However, students in the United Kingdom who had grown up in rural areas report more positive orientations toward the natural environment than do urban-raised students (Hinds & Sparks 2008). The anthropocentric beliefs of rural residents seem consistent with their more direct use of natural resources for human ends.

Finally, and perhaps less intuitive than some of the results discussed above, is the finding that individuals with a stronger sense of identification with a group report engaging in more proenvironmental behavior (Dono et al. 2010). However, this depends on which sort of group one identifies with.

#### Measures

Many tools for measuring environmental attitudes have been proposed. One compilation includes 14 such measures (Gifford 2007a, chapter 3). Perhaps the most comprehensive recent measure, built from numerous existing measures, is the Environmental Attitudes Inventory (Milfont & Duckitt 2010). The Environmental Attitudes Inventory is a multidimensional instrument that captures the hierarchical nature of environmental attitudes; it is composed of 12 scales that appear to represent most or all of the main constructs tapped by earlier measures. These include enjoyment of nature, support for interventionist conservation policies, intentions of personal environmental activism, support for conservationism if it provides human benefits, confidence that science and technology can solve environmental problems, fear of ecological collapse, support for using nature for development, self-report of personal conservation behaviors, beliefs that humans are meant to dominate nature, beliefs that humans should use nature, beliefs that nature is valuable for its own sake, and support for population control policies.

Another instrument recently created with the specific purpose of combining and building upon earlier measures is the New Human Interdependence Paradigm scale (Corral-Verdugo et al. 2008). However, the most widely used measure so far is the revised New Ecological Paradigm scale (Dunlap et al. 2000).

## MAJOR AND MACRO THEORETICAL APPROACHES

At least seven major theoretical approaches have guided work by environmental psychologists across their range of interests, from the built environment to the natural environment and proenvironmental behavior (Gifford 2007a). These include (a) stimulation theories, which conceptualize the physical environment as a crucial source of sensory information; (b) control theories that emphasize the importance of an individual's real, perceived, or desired control over stimulation; (c) ecological psychology, which emphasizes a dynamic-system approach to person-environment relations; (d) integral approaches such as interactionism, transactionalism, and organismic theory that attempt to describe the full, complex interrelationship of persons and settings; (c) operant approaches, which adopt a direct problem-solving approach that employs behavior modification techniques; (c) environment-centered theories, such as the spiritual-instrumental model and ecopsychology, which emphasize the environment's own welfare; and (c) theories that include such elements as goals, norms, intentions, values, and attitudes. Most of the above might be called macro approaches; the last are more specific meso-scale approaches.

Within the zone of proenvironmental attitudes and behavior, recent theories vary in scope, from the meso to the macro. One such macro-scale proposal is the general model of social dilemmas (Gifford 2006, 2008b). It posits that impactful behavior choices made by individuals (including those who head organizations as well as the average citizen) often have a geophysical influence (e.g., weather, extent and accessibility of the resource), occur within a regulatory context (e.g., policies and pricing), and are influenced by technological developments (e.g., new drilling methods, factory fishing boats) as well as psychological elements (motivations, cognitions, norms, interpersonal influences, and decision-making strategies). The general model of social dilemmas includes downstream consequences of these decisions for (a) the decision maker (and significant others), (b) the community, and (c) the environment. Finally, the model recognizes that these outcomes feed their consequences back upstream, influencing the regulatory context (in particular) but also sometimes influencing the other upstream factors—geophysical (such as climate impacts), technological, and social factors—in a continuing dynamic cycle of influence. However inclusive it might be, such a theory is difficult to test, at least as a whole (although its individual links can and should be tested).

#### **MESO THEORIES**

With fewer constructs, meso-scale theories are far easier to investigate. Among these are the theory of planned behavior (TPB) (Ajzen 2005), VBN theory (Stern 2000), and goal-framing theory (Lindenberg & Steg 2007). Other, less-specified, notions include the reasonable person model (Kaplan & Kaplan 2009) and the human interdependence paradigm (Gärling et al. 2002).

These meso-scale theories propose attractively parsimonious accounts of behavior and therefore are eminently investigable (e.g., Kaiser & Gutscher 2003). The TPB, for example, proposes that attitudes toward a behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control predict behavioral intention, which predicts actual behavior. However, many studies have identified personal and social factors that enhance the TPB's predictive validity, including habit, descriptive norms, self-identity, and place attachment (e.g., Bamberg & Schmidt 2003, Chen & Tung 2010, Fielding

et al. 2008, Heath & Gifford 2002, Hinds & Sparks 2008, Raymond et al. 2011, Whitmarsh & O'Neill 2010). Structural inadequacies, such as a lack of availability of recycling facilities<sup>3</sup> or public transport, also constrain proenvironmental behavior (e.g., Heath & Gifford 2002, Steg & Gifford 2005). Assuming these factors are useful additions to the understanding and prediction of proenvironmental behavior, they tend to push theoretical thinking back toward the macro scale.

The VBN theory (Stern 2000) predicts, in a chain-like sequence, that one's values (altruistic, biocentric, and not egocentric) cause one to espouse an ecological worldview, which leads one to believe that adverse consequences to the environment can occur, which increases one's perceived ability to reduce threats to the environment, which leads to a sense of obligation to act in a proenvironmental manner, which culminates in four kinds of proenvironmental behavior (activism such as participating in public demonstrations, nonactivist behaviors in the public sphere such as letter writing, private-sphere behaviors such as recycling at home, and behaviors within organizations such as lobbying for double-sided printing). This sequence has been supported for climate-relevant behaviors such as the acceptability of household energy-saving policies (Steg et al. 2005), and parts of it have been verified in terms of values and awareness of consequences (Hansla et al. 2008). That is, researchers have shown that each link in VBN's chain of hypothesized constructs is indeed predicted by its predecessor.

Goal-framing theory (Lindenberg & Steg 2007) posits that three types of goals influence the way people process information and act upon it: hedonic (pleasure oriented), gain (self-interest), and normative (what others are thought to be doing). At any given time, one goal is presumed to be focal while the others are in the background and might increase or decrease the strength of the focal goal.

The reasonable person model (Kaplan & Kaplan 2009) proposes that understanding people's informational needs in particular settings has the potential to make it easier for people to help themselves. People are unreasonable when a place does not support their needs for information and are more likely to be reasonable in environments that do.

The human interdependence paradigm (Gärling et al. 2002) emphasizes the tension between the drive for human development, which tends to require unsustainable use of resources, and concern for the environment, which usually implies preservationist or at least sustainable use of resources. This paradigm reflects the central conflict in commons dilemmas between self-interest and that of a common resource pool, which has been the subject of dozens of studies (cf. Biel et al. 2008, Kopelman et al. 2002) that often have used microworld simulations (e.g., Gifford & Gifford 2000) to investigate the 30 or more influences on cooperation in the commons (Gifford 2007a, chapter 14).

Each of these meso theories certainly includes a part of the truth about proenvironmental behavior, and their relatively few components allow for convenient testing. However, the price of simplicity is incompleteness, and excluded influences undoubtedly play a role.<sup>4</sup>

# PROENVIRONMENTAL BEHAVIOR IS STILL INSUFFICIENT: WHY?

The need for more proenvironmental behavior is very widely recognized, but in most built and natural places too little of it is occurring to ensure sustainability. In common dilemma terms, our

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>One disturbing recent finding deserves further research attention. When participants in two different contexts had structural facilities available for recycling, they used more paper than when facilities were not available (Catlin & Wang 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See Footnote 2.

species is "defecting," that is, extracting resources faster than they can replenish. The responsibility for this can be placed with the individuals, households, and organizations whose actions are contributing to the problem, but environmental psychology as a science can support those whose job is to create more effective policy by developing improved theory, focusing on the barriers experienced by people, and conducting studies that emphasize behavior change over self-reports.

#### The Main Theories Are Too Exclusive or Too Inclusive

The meso-scale theories cover important explanatory territory, but they do not overcome the problem that their predictive strength, although often of moderate magnitude, usually does not account for the bulk of the variance in proenvironmental concern or behavior. A further related and longstanding problem is the gap between stated intentions and objective behavior, although some have argued that the attitude-behavior gap is an empirical chimera that does not exist at all, if the phenomenon is considered from Donald Campbell's (1963) perspective that verbal statements and overt acts both stem from one root behavioral disposition (Kaiser et al. 2010). If the attitude-behavior gap does exist, as most believe it does, it probably occurs in part from the dampening influence of structural barriers (one cannot take public transport if it does not exist in one's community) and psychological barriers.

A problem with macro-scale theories is that although they are inclusive about the drivers of human behavior, they are difficult to investigate as a whole through conventional empirical study. They do, however, serve as big-picture reminders of the human and nonhuman antecedents and consequences of environment-impactful behavior and therefore can assist policy makers in understanding more about the antecedents and consequences of their policies.

In sum, one reason that proenvironmental behavior remains a challenge may be that meso theories are too narrow for policy makers to effectively utilize and macro theories are too broad for scientists to test. If so, one goal for environmental psychology should be to develop an intermediate-sized theory that incorporates most of the impactful drivers of behavior but remains manageable in size and parsimonious.

## Psychological Barriers to Proenvironmental Behavior

Researchers have begun to identify and categorize psychological barriers to proenvironmental behavior (e.g., Gifford 2008a, Lorenzoni et al. 2007). The most exhaustive account of psychological barriers to behavior change organizes about 30 separate "dragons of inaction" into seven conceptual categories: limited cognition, ideologies and worldviews, social influences, sunk costs, discredence, perceived risks, and limited behavior, that is, engaging in a few low-impact actions and rationalizing that contribution to be sufficient (Gifford 2011). These barriers certainly matter, and they present an important research challenge. Whose proenvironmental behavior is constrained by which barriers, and how can they best be overcome?

## Self-Reports Do Not Change Behavior

Another problem that impedes understanding of objective proenvironmental behavior is researchers' reliance on self-reports. After all, to be blunt, not concern for the environment, not felt responsibility, not subjective norms, not attitude toward the behavior, not goals, and not even behavioral intentions solve environmental problems. Only actual behavior will bring a resolution.

Even self-reported proenvironmental behavior does not match actual proenvironmental behavior particularly well. A recent meta-analysis (C. Kormos & R. Gifford, manuscript submitted) found the association between self-reported and actual proenvironmental behavior to be about r = 0.45, which is to say that these two constructs, which purport to cover the same territory,

share only about 20% of their variance. This gap can be caused in part by imperfect memory, social desirability bias, and the lack of opportunity to observe others' behavior (e.g., in reporting household energy use, the reporter will not always have observed the actions of others in the household). Attempts have been made to overcome this problem by using Rasch models (Kaiser et al. 2007), although the proposed solution itself depends on self-reports of one's past behavior, which may not escape the problem.

## Four Ways Forward

How might these problems be overcome? First, because macro contextual factors such as climate, geography, technology, economic trends, and the political slant of one's government often constrain or encourage proenvironmental behavior, they should be considered more often. Environmental psychologists should work with experts in technical and other social science fields; such teams will have a better grasp on the big picture. Second, increased understanding of how the psychological barriers operate is essential. Third, improved measurement of self-reports is needed, and self-reports should only be relied upon only when objective behavior measurements cannot be made. Fourth, more meta-analyses that examine the relative potency of the many drivers of proenvironmental behavior are needed; each individual study is useful but almost always is limited at least in generalizability resulting from relatively small or localized samples. At least in principle, meta-analyses reveal something closer to the truth of relations between constructs.

Fortunately, four pertinent meta-analyses have been conducted. The first considered 315 relevant studies and concluded that proenvironmental behavior was most strongly predicted by knowledge of the issues, knowledge of action strategies, locus of control, attitudes, verbal commitment, and sense of responsibility (Hines et al. 1986–1987). A second meta-analysis, performed 20 years later, confirmed those results for the most part but also concluded that the intention to engage in proenvironmental behavior mediates the impact of the other personal and social influences, that personal norms influence this intention, and that problem awareness is a significant indirect influence on proenvironmental intention; the impact of problem awareness appears to be mediated by moral and social norms, guilt, and attribution processes (Bamberg & Möser 2007).

A third meta-analysis focused on individuals' commitment to action; the findings confirmed that commitment can be effective but called for further examination of the reasons that it works (Lokhorst et al. 2013). A fourth reported on the relative value of different treatments or interventions for promoting proenvironmental behavior; it concluded that the most effective approaches employed cognitive dissonance, goal setting, social modeling, and prompts, although as might be expected, different treatments are more effective for different proenvironmental behaviors, and combined approaches often work better than single approaches (Osbaldiston & Schott 2012).

In sum, an important goal for environmental psychology is to find a theoretical framework that is more parsimonious than the macro approaches but more inclusive and therefore more predictive of environmental behavior than the meso approaches. This model should include more contextual (extrapsychological) factors, attend to the psychological barriers between concern and action, and make greater use of objective measures of behavior. Given the bewildering plethora of influences on environmental concern, intentions, and behavior, more cooperation with other experts is called for, and more meta-analyses are needed to clarify connections among the constructs and thereby to contribute to a more viable and powerful account of proenvironmental behavior.

#### CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN BEHAVIOR

Climate change is not new; the earth's temperature and climate have varied considerably over millions of years. However, in the past century, greenhouse gas (GHG)-emitting human activities

have caused the Earth's temperature to rise higher than it has been since civilization developed 10,000 years ago (Intergov. Panel Climate Change 2007). Worldwide GHG emissions continue to rise despite official efforts to raise awareness and many citizens' efforts to change. Further climate change probably will result not only in higher maximum temperatures (and therefore more heat-related deaths), but also in more frequent extreme weather events, a rise in sea levels, an increase in widespread infectious diseases, and decreases in crop yields and water quality. Climate change matters.

Current climate change is primarily driven by GHG-emitting human behaviors and therefore may be largely mitigated by changes to human behavior. However, human behavior is the least understood aspect of the climate change system (Intergov. Panel Climate Change 2007). Thus, unfortunately, the main cause of the problem is its least understood element. Understanding behavior at the psychological level of analysis therefore is essential, given that the cumulative impact of individuals' decisions and behaviors is the key factor driving climate change (Gifford et al. 2011a).

Fortunately, some environmental psychologists have been working on the problem for more than 30 years (Fischhoff & Furby 1983); they have learned much about different behaviors with different impacts and are actively developing interventions (Gifford 2008a, Spence et al. 2008). The pace of research has accelerated recently, including the American Psychological Association (2010) task force report and subsequent special issue (Swim et al. 2011). At the same time, recognition that the wider political and social context must be considered when interpreting the meaning of attitudes in places with different dominant political ideologies (Räthzel & Uzzell 2009) can and should be integrated with the climate change models and efforts by other disciplines.

## Mitigative and Adaptive Responses

Human responses to climate change can take two basic approaches. Mitigation refers to proactive efforts to prevent further climate change, and adaptation refers to reactive responses to events caused by climate change. Both can take many forms, but an important distinction in the latter is that for nonpsychologists, adaptation usually means structural changes, such as building seawalls, whereas for psychologists, adaptation means the more personal responses such as cognitions, emotions, decision processes, and coping strategies (e.g., Reser & Swim 2011).

As the threat of climate change impacts becomes urgent, a focus on psychological adaptation is needed. Apart from quite salient impacts that are already evident in some northern regions, few opportunities are yet available for studying psychological adaptation to clear and present impacts of climate change. Events that quite probably are climate related include the huge storm that struck the New York and New Jersey areas in October 2012. Until more climate-related events occur, research on individual and collective responses to earlier weather-related disasters such as Hurricane Katrina (e.g., Adeola 2009) can be informative.

Individuals may prepare for the expected increase in climate-related threats such as more extreme weather events and sea-level rise in both behavioral and emotional ways. The former involves precautions to prevent damage and injury; the latter refers to intraindividual awareness, anticipation, and readiness, reflected in one's capacity to psychologically respond in an emergency. Individuals, households, and communities may or may not have resilience, that is, the "inner strengths and coping resources for necessary adaptation to situational demands" (Am. Psychol. Assoc. 2010, p. 117), or experience vulnerability, the extent to which individuals and communities are at risk and are unable to cope with the adverse impacts of climate change (e.g., Smit & Wandel 2006). The more resilience and the less vulnerability that individuals and communities have, the greater their adaptive capacity. Psychology can help with both forms of adaptation; the former by helping to build public understanding and support for necessary infrastructure improvements,

and the latter through its expertise in ameliorating stress and facilitating coping (Swim et al. 2011).

## **High- Versus Low-Impact Mitigation Behaviors**

Distinguishing among environment-relevant behaviors is important because these behaviors can have different psychological and contextual determinants (Stern 2000) and because they vary in environmental impact. Some actions (e.g., recycling) that have relatively little environmental impact tend to be influenced by attitudes, personal norms, and values. In contrast, high-impact behaviors (e.g., driving) tend to be more important to people and are entrenched in habit; the behaviors more often are primarily driven by contextual factors (e.g., commuting distance) and therefore are more difficult to change (Gardner & Stern 2002). Low-impact behaviors have received more attention to date, but given finite resources, high-impact behaviors should receive more attention (Gardner & Stern 2008).

One hope is that people will gravitate from low- to high-impact behaviors, a progression called the spillover effect, via low-impact catalyst behaviors such as recycling. Some evidence for spillover exists (e.g., Thøgersen & Ölander 2003, Whitmarsh & O'Neill 2010), but sometimes action in one behavioral domain actually leads to less action in others so that no net positive effect occurs (Herring & Sorrell 2008).

## Impact-Oriented Versus Intent-Oriented Mitigation Behaviors

Whether a behavior is high or low in impact differs from whether a person intends to act proenvironmentally or not. Impact refers to an action's objective impact on the climate; intent refers to a person's intention to act in a way that will have a positive impact on the environment or climate. The two may coincide ("I intend to help by engaging in a high-impact behavior by moving to a plant-based diet"; food choices objectively make an important difference in GHG emissions) or not ("I intend to help by returning plastic bags to the grocery store"; recycling plastic bags, although helpful, has a much less important impact). Intent-oriented environmental actions probably are driven more by one's attitudes, whereas impact-oriented behaviors probably are driven more by motivations, contextual influences (e.g., pricing), and demographic variables. For example, actual household energy use (an impact-oriented behavior) is most strongly related to nonattitude factors such as income, household size, age, health, and convenience (Gatersleben et al. 2002).

In a UK survey, the energy conservation levels of respondents who said they engaged in behaviors to help mitigate climate change surprisingly did not significantly differ from those who did not report engaging in such behaviors (Whitmarsh 2009). Furthermore, a marked discrepancy was observed between the percentage of respondents who stated that they engaged in an action specifically out of concern about climate change (31%) and the percentage who reported actually engaging in energy conservation behavior (96%) (Whitmarsh 2009).

## **Curtailment Versus Efficiency Behaviors**

Curtailment behaviors reduce consumption (e.g., turning off a light); efficiency behaviors are one-time choices to adopt an efficient technology (e.g., installing more insulation or solar panels). Curtailment behaviors have a large potential impact; one study suggests that in households that have not already taken any of 27 curtailment actions in their transport and in-home behaviors, cumulative energy savings could exceed 60% of energy used (Gardner & Stern 2008). That being said, efficiency behaviors may have greater energy-saving potential (Gardner & Stern 2002) mainly

because they do not require consistent, long-term maintenance of the target behavior (Lehman & Geller 2004): Once the change is made, the savings are automatic or behavior free. However, efficiency behaviors may be more subject to losses caused by the rebound effect, the tendency to overspend energy as a psychological compensation for making a climate-virtuous choice.

#### INTERVENTION SCIENCE

All the knowledge so far gained can be used in another of environmental psychology's key roles: the development, evaluation, and implementation of interventions that target direct and indirect sustainability and climate-impactful behaviors. Intervention science is not as simple as turning a switch; in order to accomplish its ultimate goal of behavior change, it must take the social, political, economic, and cultural context into account; help to design climate-related policies and regulations; create effective public messages; predict public reactions to proposed policies; provide explanations for the public acceptance or rejection of new technologies, and comprehend how risks associated with climate change are understood. Interventions matter.

In order to be effective, intervention scientists should make several careful decisions in their work plans (e.g., Steg & Vlek 2009). They should carefully consider the behavior in question. Targeted behaviors should have large and negative demonstrated impacts but be amenable to change. The demographics of the key group for that behavior must be taken into account. The type of intervention (see below) must be carefully selected. Resources must be used efficiently. Psychologically important aspects of the targeted behaviors should be considered, such as perceived costs and benefits, norms and habits, and emotional and moral dimensions. The expected outcomes also need to be considered: These can include change in the behavior itself, improvements to the environment, and changes to the person's own quality of life.

## Informational and Communication Strategies

Many interventions focus mainly on informational communication. Although this approach is relatively inexpensive, it has not been very effective in the ultimate goal of behavior change (Abrahamse et al. 2005). However, communication does at least set the stage for action, and without it there would not be the widespread awareness of climate change that currently exists. Nevertheless, communication about climate change is challenging because for most people the phenomenon is not immediately sensed, which naturally leads them to question its existence (cf. Moser 2010).

However, certain communication strategies work better than others in turning awareness into the willingness or intention to act. For example, informing the public that scientists aim to educate people about the consequences of climate change, as opposed to suggesting that people take a particular course of action, results in stronger willingness to act (Rabinovich et al. 2012). Messages framed with motivational or empowering statements (e.g., "We help solve climate change when we take transit, compost, or buy green energy") produce greater perceived competence to deal with climate change, climate change engagement, and some climate-relevant behavioral intentions than do sacrifice messages (e.g., "I am going to have to get used to driving less, turning off the lights, and turning down the heat") (Gifford & Comeau 2011).

## **Antecedent Versus Consequence Strategies**

Interventions that aim to change the drivers of a selected behavior before it is performed employ antecedent strategies. The most common antecedent strategy is the information campaign, although the "information deficit" model on which such campaigns are based (that people simply

need to become more aware or possess more facts) has been widely criticized (e.g., Kolmuss & Agyeman 2002). A second antecedent strategy is modeling, in which a key player enacts the desired behavior so as to influence proximate others to follow suit (e.g., Sussman et al. 2013). A third such strategy is to obtain behavioral commitments from individuals or organizations (e.g., Baca-Motes et al. 2013). A fourth antecedent strategy uses prompts to change behavior, for example, by posting a sign at an exit door directing individuals to turn off unused lights (e.g., Sussman & Gifford 2012).

Consequence strategies aim to change behavior after it has occurred in order to influence its future occurrence. This family of strategies, including giving people feedback (e.g., new desktop wireless devices tell householders how much energy they are using at the moment), rewards (e.g., rebates for saving energy), and punishment (e.g., fines or even jail for overfishing or poaching), aims to influence the selected behavior after its performance.

## **Informational Versus Structural Strategies**

The goal of informational strategies is to change the (internal) psychological precursors (e.g., attitudes, knowledge, and motivation) of proenvironmental behavior. The goal of structural strategies is to change the (external) physical, technical, legal, or pricing circumstances surrounding the proenvironmental behavior.

Informational approaches appear to be best suited for easier (i.e., low cost in terms of effort, money, or social disapproval) behaviors with few barriers (Steg & Vlek 2009). They are somewhat effective for (a) prompting and eliciting proenvironmental behavioral commitments (Abrahamse et al. 2005); (b) social marketing, in which an intervention is carefully tailored to the needs and barriers of a particular group (Abrahamse et al. 2007, McKenzie-Mohr 2000, Thøgersen 2007); (c) implementation intention strategies, which ask people not only to commit to some behavior change but also how they plan to do so (see, e.g., Bamberg 2002); and (d) the provision of descriptive norm information, that is, telling people what other proximate individuals, such as neighbors or other hotel guests, are doing for the environment (e.g., Schultz et al. 2007). They may also be effective in campaigns to increase public acceptance of structural strategies, such as policies designed to reduce car use (Gärling & Schuitema 2007).

Structural strategies seem to be more effective for changing less-convenient and higher-cost behaviors (Steg & Vlek 2009), often so that the incentives (or disincentives) render the behavior more (or less) attractive (Thøgersen 2005). Among the main structural strategies (physical design changes that make the desired behavior easier or more obvious, pricing, rewards, and punishments), rewards often are most effective (Geller 2002). However, reward-based structural strategies sometimes last only as long as the rewards are offered, and often they are only effective in conjunction with a person's existing behavior-change goals (Gärling & Loukopoulos 2007). Like efficiency behaviors, to which they are similar, physical forms of structural changes, such as putting a recycling bin in every office instead of down the hall, have the advantage of changing behavior in a more permanent way.

Policy versions of structural strategies for increasing proenvironmental behavior (especially price increases or restrictive changes such as a reduced speed limit) are more acceptable when they are perceived to be fair, when they are effective, and when they do not seriously infringe on individual freedom. They are more acceptable to individuals with strong environmental values, those who are more aware of the problem, and those who feel morally obligated to ease the problem. Policies that can make proenvironmental behavior seem more attractive are likely to be evaluated as more effective and acceptable. Finally, policies that promote the adoption of energy-efficient equipment are preferred to those that seek to reduce the use of existing equipment (Gifford et al. 2011b).

The most effective interventions are tailored to the individual (or household) and to the specific behavior, take into account the particular barriers, and employ mixed strategies. Combinations of strategies, such as implementing information, feedback, and social interaction in a group often are the most effective and durable. In implementing one such combination, 19 of 38 household behaviors in the Netherlands were changed, and the changes were maintained or increased two years later (e.g., Staats et al. 2004). In another Dutch study, a combination of tailored information, goal setting, and tailored feedback was used to encourage households to reduce their gas, electricity, and fuel use (Abrahamse et al. 2007). After five months, intervention households used 5.1% less energy, whereas control households used 0.7% more.

#### NATURE: THE CAPRICIOUS RESTORATIVE AGENT

Nature matters. Like the Hindu god Shiva, the natural environment both gives and takes away. It has mainly been studied by environmental psychologists as a force for restoring depleted cognitive capacities (e.g., Kaplan 1995, Ulrich 1984), but its destructive power also compels the study of human coping, adaptation, and resilience (e.g., Adeola 2009).

To a lesser extent, nature has been considered as a complex environment to which humans have a variety of hard-wired orientations (e.g., Ornstein & Ehrlich 2000), as a focus of aesthetic appreciation and inspiration (e.g., Williams & Harvey 2001), as the setting for child development (e.g., Korpela et al. 2002), as our basic life-support system that absolutely requires conservation (e.g., Schmuck & Schultz 2002), and as a fount of design ideas (e.g., Joye 2007). Consideration of the natural environment in planning and design is important for human health, well-being, and restoration (e.g., Hartig & Staats 2003).

## Measuring the Connection

Seven tools for measuring the human-nature relation have been developed recently. Five focus on nature connectedness or relatedness (Davis et al. 2009, Dutcher et al. 2007, Mayer & Frantz 2004, Nisbet et al. 2009), including one designed to measure children's connections with nature (Cheng & Monroe 2012). The sixth employs a behavior-based measure of the need for recovery among office workers (Smolders et al. 2012). Another was developed to measure six forms of incompatibility, that is, a poor fit between what one would like to do and what is actually happening in a setting, which leads to mental fatigue (and thus a need for restoration). The six forms of incompatibility are being distracted, being in need of information, being on duty, deceiving others, having difficulty, and being in danger (Herzog et al. 2011).

## Causes and Consequences of the Connection

Perhaps some people can be connected to both self and nature, but the evidence suggests that this is not typical. Implicit connections to nature are negatively correlated with egoistic concerns (Schultz et al. 2004). When objective self-awareness is heightened in people with lower levels of environmental values, their connection to nature declines (Frantz et al. 2005). In contrast, principled moral reasoning, the most advanced level of moral development, correlates positively with ecocentrism, that is, belief in the intrinsic importance of nature (Karpiak & Baril 2008).

Not surprisingly, being psychologically connected to nature is associated with proenvironmental concern and behavior (Davis et al. 2009, Dutcher et al. 2007). Living near greenery is associated with less reported crime (Kuo & Sullivan 2001), and more social activity occurs in green spaces than in spaces that are less green (Sullivan et al. 2004).

#### **Nature Restores**

Abundant evidence favors the straightforward proposition that nature is restorative (Kaplan 1995). Nature improves cognitive functioning, productivity, mood, vitality, connectivity with nature, and speed of recovery in hospital, and it reduces stress and anger. These trends hold for actually being in nature (e.g., Berman et al. 2008), for merely having some nature (e.g., plants) in a room (e.g., Raanaas et al. 2011), for seeing a poster image of nature in one's room or office—at least for males (Kweon et al. 2008), or even for seeing nature through one's window (Ulrich 1984). More-fatigued people report greater restoration than less-fatigued people from walking in a forest (Hartig & Staats 2006). Green spaces improve the functioning of children with attention deficit disorder (Taylor et al. 2001).

In some ways, people seem to realize these effects and to expect even more of them. When asked why they engage in nature activities, individuals report doing so for 10 reasons: They believe that nature activities will facilitate a sense of cognitive freedom, allow them to simply experience nature, enhance their ecosystem connectedness, escape from stress, offer a physical challenge, foster personal growth, provide an opportunity to guide others, heighten their sense of self-control, renew social connections, and improve their health (Gifford 2007a).

People rate murals of nature scenes as more restorative than murals of indoor scenes, particularly nature scenes that include water (Felsten 2009). At the same time, even as they report being happier after a walk in nature than after a walk indoors, they underestimate the hedonic benefit they received (Nisbet & Zelenski 2011). This suggests that support for the conservation of nature, and for spending time in it, would be greater if people realized that they benefit from it more than they think.

#### **Restoration Is Not Limited to Nature**

However, restoration appears to be achievable in nonnatural settings, too (Scopelliti & Giuliani 2004). For example, visiting a house of worship seems to have many of the same benefits (e.g., Herzog et al. 2010), and an indoor simulation of a natural setting may have many of the same stress-reducing properties as the real thing (Kjellgren & Buhrkall 2010). The role of water is intriguing as a kind of cross-modal influence: Scenes that include water, whether in natural or built settings, elicit stronger ratings of restorativeness than do scenes without water in them (White et al. 2010).

## Nature Is Not Always Nice

Nature is far from restorative when it delivers storms, wildfires, temperature extremes, earthquakes, tsunamis, volcanic eruptions, and meteors. It is not restorative or perceived as such when it harbors potential danger, such as a possible stalker (Herzog & Rector 2009) or other threats (van den Berg & ter Heijne 2005).

Given nature's destructive side, environmental psychologists have investigated factors that influence disaster preparedness (e.g., Mishra et al. 2010); the immediate response to disasters, such as prior experience or social connections (e.g., Adeola 2009); and the longer-term consequences of disasters (e.g., Caia et al. 2010).

#### PLACE ATTACHMENT AND IDENTITY

Place attachment and identity matter. Becoming bonded to a place is psychologically important in itself, but it also has implications for important external issues, including sustainability and climate

change. The psychology of place, in a variety of guises, has been a very active topic recently in environmental psychology. Some efforts have focused on defining it, some on discovering its correlates, some on its antecedents, and some on its consequences. Phenomenologist approaches emphasize the meaning of place (e.g., Seamon 2012). Theory in the area is developing but remains uncrystalized (Lewicka 2011).

Place attachment has most often been described as an emotional connection to a place (e.g., Brown et al. 2003). For the most part, it is portrayed as a multifaceted concept that characterizes the bonding between individuals and their important places (e.g., Giuliani 2003). Obviously, place attachment is rarely attained instantly; residents need to spend time in a place, to hear stories, or to be part of a spiritual quest centered there (Hay 1998). One grows attached to settings where memorable or important events occurred (Manzo 2005).

Place identity is most often defined in terms of an overlap with one's sense of self. It develops when individuals experience similarities between self and place and incorporate cognitions about the physical environment (memories, thoughts, values, preferences, and categorizations) into their self-definitions. It has been viewed as stemming from the development of three processes: congruity between self and place, fit with the environment, and self-extension (Droseltis & Vignoles 2010).

One view of the relation between place attachment and place identity is that the former evolves, with time, into the latter (Clayton 2003). Consistent with this idea, natives of a place tend to have both place attachment and place identity, but people who move to a new place tend to report more place attachment than place identity (Hernandez et al. 2007), which suggests that attachment precedes identity.

A few other constructs bear some similarity to place attachment and place identity: sense of community, place dependence, and environmental identity. Some suggest that sense of place encompasses the subconcepts of place identity, place attachment, and place dependence (e.g., Jorgensen & Stedman 2001) or that it includes ancestral ties, feeling like an insider, and a desire to stay in the place (Hay 1998).

#### Person, Place, and Process

One approach to defining place attachment is to conceptualize it as having three primary dimensions: persons, places, and processes (Scannell & Gifford 2010b). In terms of persons, some researchers show that attachment to a place means attachment to the persons who live there and the social interactions that the place affords (e.g., Hidalgo & Hernández 2001).

Second, place attachment obviously is also about the physical place. The types of places that individuals find meaningful include a broad range of physical settings, from built environments such as houses, streets, buildings, and nonresidential indoor settings such as a retail store (Ng 2003), to natural environments such as lakes, parks, trails, forests, and mountains (Manzo 2003, 2005), or a place's climate (Knez 2005). Certain neighborhood forms, such as New Urbanism (characterized by narrow streets, houses close together on small lots with narrow setbacks, often with picket fences and front porches, often facing a central common green, with local amenities), seem to promote more of a sense of community than others, such as the conventional suburban form (characterized by wide streets, larger lots, and fewer porches, picket fences, or proximate amenities) (e.g., Kim & Kaplan 2004, Pendola & Gen 2008).

Place attachment can exist at multiple spatial levels. One might be attached to a chair, a room, a residence, a neighborhood, a park, a town or city, a region, a state or province, a nation, or the world. The strength of attachment differs depending on the level of analysis: Greater place attachment emerged for the home and city levels than for the middle-scale neighborhood level

(Hidalgo & Hernández 2001, Lewicka 2010). The social dimension of place attachment (feeling attached to the people in the place) may be stronger than the physical dimension (feeling attached to the built and natural elements of the place), although physical and social attachments both influenced the overall bond (Lewicka 2010).

Place attachment may be civic or natural. Civic place attachment is focused on one's community (e.g., Vorkinn & Riese 2001); natural place attachment is focused on nature (Scannell & Gifford 2010a). Civic and natural place attachments can, and do, predict outcomes differently, which reinforces the notion that they are distinct constructs (Scannell & Gifford 2010a). The identity analog of the relation to nature is environmental identity, the inclusion of nature in one's self-concept (Clayton 2003).

Other researchers focus on the meaning that a place has for a person. The meaning-mediated model of place attachment (Stedman 2003) proposes that individuals do not become directly attached to the physical features of a place but rather to the meaning that those features represent. In this view, a developed area may symbolize community or an underdeveloped area may symbolize wilderness. The physical aspects are said to constrain the possible meanings a place may adopt and, therefore, physically based place attachment rests in these symbolic meanings.

Places also become meaningful from personally important experiences, such as place-based revelations (e.g., religious epiphanies in a sacred place) or secular realizations of connectedness to nature in a wilderness, milestones (e.g., where I first met my lover), or experiences of personal growth: "[I]t is not simply the places themselves that are significant, but rather what can be called 'experience-in-place' that creates meaning" (Manzo 2005, p. 74). Place attachment seems to develop from experiences and emotional bonds first established with a place in childhood (Morgan 2010).

Place attachment can be faith based. Through religion, the meanings of certain places become elevated to the status of sacred (Mazumdar & Mazumdar 2004). Revered places such as Mecca or Jerusalem or, on a smaller scale, churches, temples, shrines, burial sites, or sacred places, are central to many religions, and their spiritual meanings are shared among worshippers.

Third, place attachment is about the processes it involves. Five processes can be distinguished: Place-related distinctiveness is about knowing one is from A, not B; place-referent continuity is about perceived similarity between one's current place and an earlier place to which one was attached, often one's childhood home; place-congruent continuity refers to the similarity of the current place's climate with that of one's childhood; place-related self-esteem is about feeling good in a place, or proud to be living there; and place-related self-efficacy occurs if the place supplies all or most of one's needs (Knez 2005).

#### The Functions of Place Attachment

Presumably, place attachment develops because it serves one or more functions, but what might those be? One is to provide a sense of security (e.g., Giuliani 2003). Attachment to one's neighborhood has been associated with fewer perceived incivilities (e.g., drug dealing, gang activity, and traffic) and less fear of crime (Brown et al. 2003). A second function is to facilitate a sense of belongingness: the feeling that one is in the right place, a place where one fits in (Giuliani 2003). Third, place attachment provides a sense of continuity (Scannell & Gifford 2010a). Fourth, it fosters restoration: In studies of children's favorite places, place-visit experiences tend to have a restorative theme (Korpela et al. 2002). Restoration within a favorite place appears to improve self-regulatory processes by providing a secure, comfortable environment conducive to self-reflection, problem solving, and stress relief. Fifth, attachment facilitates the successful pursuit of one's goals (e.g., Kyle et al. 2004b).

#### **How Place Matters**

Place attachment influences attitudes and behavior beyond itself. For example, it seems to lead to increased civic activity, at least as long as one also has neighborhood social ties (Lewicka 2005). Individuals with greater place attachment tend to be more prepared for floods (Mishra et al. 2010).

Although place attachment clearly matters, it does not always do so in supportive or positive ways (e.g., Brown et al. 2012). For example, Norwegian residents who were strongly attached to specific areas of a municipality tended to express more opposition to a proposed hydro power plant development, but those who were especially attached to the municipality as a whole tended to favor the development (Vorkinn & Riese 2001).

Place attachment may reduce climate change engagement if climate-positive actions appear to threaten existing place meanings, as demonstrated in a sample of UK residents who opposed proposals to build wind farms in their local area (Devine-Wright & Howes 2010). It can be associated with less, as well as more, proenvironmental behavior (e.g., Uzzell et al. 2002, Vaske & Kobrin 2001). Perhaps the resolution of this lies in the recent finding that natural place attachment appears to foster proenvironmental behavior, but civic place attachment does not (Scannell & Gifford 2013).

The physical aspects of a place may suffer if people cling to place meanings that are incompatible with place preservation or in cases where NIMBY (not in my backyard)-ism is retrogressive, that is, when it hinders desirable social goals or the normal evolution of architectural style, or positive forms of development that would accomplish these things. However, when planning incorporates or enhances elements that are central to the meaning of the place, it will be better received (e.g., Manzo & Perkins 2006).

Different forms of place relationships have different outcomes. Hikers with a greater sense of place identity viewed problems (such as crowding, litter, or noise) along a trail to be more important, but those with a greater sense of place dependence perceived problems to be less important (Kyle et al. 2004a), perhaps because these problems tended to be by-products of their own place use.

Emotional relationships with place usually are positive, but they can include fear, hatred, and ambivalence (Manzo 2005). For example, unhappy or traumatic experiences in a childhood home may well create what might be called negative place attachment. If place attachment did not exist, neither would homesickness—but it does; it causes problems for people who are forced by circumstance to leave a place to which they are attached, such as students who leave home for their education (e.g., Scopelliti & Tiberio 2010).

Finally, the loss of a place to which one is attached can result in grief and distress. Individuals who have been absent from their homes for an extended period of time often express a great desire to return to or visit the place, and at times, the return can involve much effort or cost.

#### **SOCIAL DESIGN**

In many ways, social design is where environmental psychology began (e.g., Osmond 1957; Sommer 1969, 1983). Social design matters. According to a famous dictum, architectural form is supposed to follow function, but for too many buildings, it does not seem to (Nasar et al. 2005). Public participation in design is an important part of the design process (e.g., Churchman 2012). However, now that public participation has become a routine part of architectural practice—at least nominally—less effort has been expended on it in recent years by academic or science-oriented environmental psychologists.

Nevertheless, environmental psychology-oriented design research and thinking continues (e.g., Peponis et al. 2007). For example, which office design features foster creativity? Green

hues seem to facilitate creativity (Lichtenfeld et al. 2012). In one study, a positive social climate and a lack of environmental distractions predicted perceived creativity in offices (Stokols et al. 2002), but in another, perceived creativity was associated with more complexity and less use of cool colors, as well as views of natural environments and less use of manufactured or composite surface materials (McCoy & Evans 2002). Importantly, only the second of these studies compared perceptions of creativity with objective creative performance; greater creativity was found in an office with more of the attributes examined (views and less manufactured materials) than in an office with fewer of those features.

More broadly, which workplace features help to support the growing cadre of knowledgeoriented employees? The work engagement of employees is influenced by their aesthetic judgments and mood, which in turn are influenced by how they appraise the lighting in their workspace (Veitch et al. 2011). Lighting that employees are able to adjust for themselves at their own workstation is better than overhead lighting: Employees find their workstation more satisfying and pleasurable, the environment as a whole more satisfying, and their job more satisfying. They report being more committed to their organization, express less intention to change jobs, and report fewer and less intense symptoms of physical illness (Veitch et al. 2010).

Employees believe a workplace offers more support for collaboration when the distance from their workstation to a meeting space is shorter, the distance to a kitchen or coffee area is longer, and the percentage of floor space that is dedicated to shared services and amenities is larger (Hua et al. 2011). Research contradicts the common belief that open-plan designs produce more collaboration, even when the occupants judge the space favorably (Lansdale et al. 2011).

Others have examined which office forms are more satisfying or are associated with better health and job satisfaction (e.g., Danielsson & Bodin 2008). The lowest health status was found among employees in medium-sized and small open-plan offices; the best in cell offices (four-walls and window) and flex offices (shared open space with machines, no assigned workspaces). Workers in these office forms and in shared-room offices also had the highest job satisfaction. Lowest job satisfaction was in "combi" offices (in which employees have their own workstations, but more than 20% of their time is spent in teamwork away from one's own desk), followed by medium-sized open-plan offices. Not surprisingly, open-plan office workers are more satisfied next to a window, especially if they also have reasonably tall partitions around them (Yildirim et al. 2007), but windows apparently do not guarantee better work performance (Wang & Boubekri 2010).

The effects of building elements on their users are rarely simple; they can and do interact with influences external to the building. For example, school buildings in poor condition matter for student achievement, but this interacts with student mobility (the frequency with which a school's students change schools), so that poor condition plus mobility hinder achievement apart from either influence alone (Evans et al. 2010).

A challenge for social design is that the aesthetic preferences of architects and laypersons often diverge (e.g., Douglas & Gifford 2001). Some buildings are admired by laypersons but not architects, some by architects but not laypersons, some by both groups, and some by neither (Gifford et al. 2000). Researchers have begun to isolate the specific building features that result in these differences (e.g., Brown & Gifford 2001, Gifford et al. 2002). Fortunately, strategies are now being developed to find ways to reconcile the preferences of the two groups (e.g., Fawcett et al. 2008).

Social design as a construct might be enlarged to include broader societal benefits, such as constructing green buildings. To the extent that such buildings have technical benefits such as reduced energy or water use, they are valuable. A further reasonable assumption might be that green buildings are beneficial for their occupants (e.g., Joye 2007). However, what seems reasonable is not always the case: In one study of 15 buildings that varied in objective greenness, employee

engagement and attitudes did not increase with increasing greenness, and, in fact, employees' impressions of their offices were negatively correlated with increasing greenness (McCunn & Gifford 2012).

#### HOME AND NEIGHBORHOOD

One's residence is the most important physical setting for most people. It can be inadequate, loved, threatening, satisfactory, restorative, a sanctuary, or gone (in the case of mobility, disaster, or homelessness). Its role in providing comfort, security, and pleasure is part of place attachment, as described previously. Many proenvironmental behavior choices are made in the home—from heating and cooling, to food choices and other purchasing decisions, to being the site from which commuting begins—and all these directly or indirectly influence sustainability and GHG emissions. The worldwide growth in cars and driving, in parallel to the growth of suburban living, is not sustainable and has very mixed effects on the quality of life (e.g., Gifford & Steg 2007). Therefore, home can be a behavioral wedge in the effort to improve overall sustainability (Stern 2008). Home matters.

Inadequate or poor-quality housing harms the physical and socioemotional health of children and adults (Evans et al. 2000, Gifford 2007c, Gifford & Lacombe 2006). Prolonged high indoor population density often impairs mental and physical health, task performance, child development, and social interaction (e.g., Evans & Saegert 2000). When low-income residents are moved to better housing, their psychological distress can decline. When it does, careful analyses suggest that the specific basis for this is reduced crowding (Wells & Harris 2007). Moving low-income individuals to better housing benefits them, but higher rates of mobility tend to be related to lower levels of well-being for most people (Oishi 2010).

Homes are threatened and sometimes destroyed by natural and technological forces. The psychological impacts include, for example, anxiety and depression associated with local air pollution (Marques & Lima 2011). However, residential threats and risks are not always directly related; for example, place attachment mediated the relation between proximity to a nuclear plant and perceived risk from it (Venables et al. 2012).

Communication after a disaster matters. If the communication between policy makers and the public is top-down, public understanding and support of policies and its trust of government decline; at the same time, perceived risk and noncompliance to policies increase (García Mira et al. 2006).

Home—at least urban residences—can pose threats, too. Although cities have some glorious benefits, mood and anxiety problems and the incidence of schizophrenia are more frequent in city dwellers, and recent functional magnetic resonance imaging research suggests that neural processes may mediate these problems through the processing of social stress (Lederbogen et al. 2011).

Housing satisfaction usually includes neighborhood elements such as trees and green spaces, cleanliness, distance to amenities, general appearance, and low levels of traffic and crime (e.g., Hur & Morrow-Jones 2008). Fear of crime is an important component of life in some neighborhoods, but those that are designed in accordance with defensible space principles (e.g., clearly marked residential territories and good surveillability of the street from residences as physical crime-deterrence features) usually have lower crime rates (e.g., Marzbali et al. 2012). Unfortunately, once disorder—in the form of vandalism, litter, or broken windows—begins, it tends to grow because residents begin to accept disorder as the norm (Keizer et al. 2008).

Documented interventions to improve disordered neighborhoods are relatively rare. Fortunately, quality-of-life research and methods are receiving much-needed attention (e.g., Marans & Stimson 2011). One such effort engaged residents of a low- and moderate-income neighborhood

in adding amenities such as kiosks, benches, trellises for hanging gardens, and artwork, and it resulted in many residents reporting that the neighborhood was better and a good place to live, with more social interaction and participation, and that they had an increased sense of place (Semenza & March 2009).

#### VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENTS

The very world in which people in industrialized societies live has profoundly changed. Distance has disappeared. We experience far-off places and people through screens. For video gamers, reality is animated. Although the "screen revolution" has been going on since the advent of television, the difference now is that individuals have much more power to decide where to go and with whom to interact, rather than being limited to the offerings of a few major networks and receiving little opportunity to interact with the content. At the same time, physically proximate people and environments are allocated less time because of that spent on screens. The pace of technological change has greatly increased, and many people have what I call change overload disorder.

Environmental psychologists have been examining what these changes might mean (e.g., Stokols & Montero 2002) and how they might affect human functioning, behavior settings (i.e., theoretical entities that capture the essence of the relation between a standing pattern of behavior—such as the usual actions of football players, referees, and the audience—and the milieu within which it occurs, the stadium), and transactions between humans and the natural environment. Putting screens between ourselves and the actual physical and social worlds changes our connections with them in fundamental ways (e.g., Levi & Kocher 1999). The new reality will require a very different understanding of environmental transactions and new ways of thinking about how people perceive and represent the world (e.g., Heft 2001).

One challenge for an environmental psychology that matters, therefore, is to understand the import of dividing our time between the proximate and the distant and virtual worlds. For example, spatial discounting means that although individuals may be more aware of problems in distant environments through watching news stories on television or online, they may be less concerned about local problems (e.g., Gifford et al. 2009, Uzzell 2000). Will this blending of the near, the far, and the unreal lead to increased assistance for victims when disaster strikes far away, or will it cause numbness to their plight resulting from awareness of too many far-flung disasters?

Environmental psychologists are still struggling with the boundaries and definitions of the physical and social environments (Heft 1998, Kaplan & Kaplan 2009), but understanding them better, including new ways of conceptualizing the intertwined nature of the real and the virtual worlds we live in, is crucial (Stokols et al. 2009).

#### BASIC PSYCHOLOGICAL PROCESSES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

All human existence is related to environmental psychology. This includes such fundamental processes as how we see the world, find our way around in it, deal with noise, manage the space between us, and engage—or not—in healthy levels of movement.

## **Environmental Perception and Evaluation**

Obviously, how individuals receive and process information from the everyday world matters. Environmental psychologists emphasize understanding how individuals respond to complex everyday settings and scenes. Work in the phenomenological tradition continues (e.g., Graumann 2002, Wells & Baldwin 2012). The ecological approach, which stresses that a complete understanding

of perception must include its embeddedness in a sociocultural and historical web, remains an important perspective (e.g., Heft 2012).

Recent research clarifies how people experience aspects of their world. For example, one's level of awareness, degree of adaptation, and necessary selectiveness in attending to environmental cues within complex real scenes mean that people sometimes miss important elements of a scene, resulting in negative consequences for their health or safety (e.g., Stamps 2005). For example, perceived safety in outdoor places depends in part on (greater) perceived enclosure, that is, whether the scene is experienced as having wall-like elements, which in turn depends in part on atmospheric permeability, that is, the distance that one can see (Stamps 2010). Fog—and presumably thick smog—reduces atmospheric permeability, which makes places appear more open, which implies to perceivers that they are less safe (Stamps 2012).

In interiors, warm colors are not only more attractive, but they seem to be better remembered (Hidayetoglu et al. 2012). Putting more credentials on the wall makes a therapist appear more qualified (Devlin et al. 2009), and dim lighting also seems to elicit more favorable impressions from their clients (Miwa & Hanyu 2006). Other work suggests that certain long-held assumptions may not be tenable. For example, older research reported that humans prefer savannah-like landscapes, but we may prefer forest views instead (Han 2007).

## **Spatial Cognition and Wayfinding**

What is new in the environmental psychology of finding one's way around? In keeping with the societal trends in technology, researchers have been asking whether virtual wayfinding (on a computer) produces the same results as real-world wayfinding, and some evidence suggests that it does (e.g., Jansen-Osmann & Berendt 2002).

Some findings are consistent with older research. Males often wayfind better than females, and this was recently confirmed in a virtual context. Males tend to use cartographic-like search strategies more often, whereas females tend to use local cues (Coluccia et al. 2007) and landmarks more often (Jansen-Osmann & Wiedenbauer 2004).

In complex, multifloor buildings, people might use one of three strategies to find their way: the central-point strategy employs the best-known parts of the building, the direction strategy relies on heading toward the horizontal location of the place sought, and the floor strategy focuses on heading for the floor on which the location is to be found (Hölscher et al. 2006). The latter strategy yielded the best wayfinding performance and was preferred by people with more experience in the building.

Other findings might be considered counterintuitive. For example, one might reasonably assume that Global Positioning System (GPS) devices help people wayfind, but even after being trained to use the devices, people who used the GPS system traveled longer and made more stops than did those who used traditional paper maps (Ishikawa et al. 2008). Although one might assume that individuals use proximate cues for wayfinding that have nothing to do with cartographic considerations, new evidence suggests that north is always used as the wayfinder's main and most accurate frame of reference (Frankenstein et al. 2012).

The foregoing studies show that wayfinding and the cognitive maps that people use are complex and subject to numerous immediate and antecedent influences. Beyond that, understanding these influences requires widening the picture to take into account sociocultural factors that, for example, do not always operate from within Western or industrialized cultural traditions (Heft 2013).

Wayfinding is an especially important problem for people with dementia. Not infrequently these individuals become disoriented within a building and sometimes wander outside and become lost. Those who have tried to optimize building design to reduce confusion report that interiors

(a) should not be monotonously uniform, (b) should have a series of distinct local cues and as much visual access to the destination as possible, and (c) should have good signage so that navigation can proceed from point to point with fewer errors (Passini et al. 2000).

## Responses to Noise

The global sound level is rising, and more people are exposed to greater sound levels. For example, the European Union estimates that 30% of its citizens are exposed to road traffic sound levels greater than those recommended by the World Health Organization. Although the normal assumption is that loud sounds are broadly detrimental, the history of noise research includes examples of null effects, and a few examples of increased performance exist (see Gifford 2007b, chapter 12). For example, somewhat loud sound may increase physiological arousal, which can speed the performance of easy, routine, or well-learned tasks.

Some results confirm the more expected outcomes. For example, louder noise is more annoying (Pierrette et al. 2012). Road traffic noise impairs children's reading speed and basic mathematics (Ljung et al. 2009). Irrelevant speech affects cognitive tasks and increases mental workload levels of open-plan office workers (Smith-Jackson & Klein 2009). Louder sound affects the memory, motivation to work, and tiredness of open-plan office workers (Jahncke et al. 2011).

Some researchers are moving toward finer-grained analyses to identify (*a*) which kinds of noise result in annoyance or detrimental effects on (*b*) which kinds of human responses in (*c*) which kinds of settings for (*d*) which sorts of persons. In one example of this approach, aircraft noise was associated with elevated hyperactivity scores in children, and road noise was associated with lower scores on a behavior problems scale, but neither type of noise was associated with a broadband measure of the children's mental health (Stansfeld et al. 2009).

Among other examples of finer-grained results, speech noise was more harmful than aircraft noise to the prose memory of adolescent students (Sörqvist 2010). Nature sounds appear to not harm memory, but when they are combined with voices or ground traffic, memory does suffer (Benfield et al. 2010). Street noise seems to harm the executive functioning of urban boys but not girls (Belojevic et al. 2012). Clearly, noise matters (Stewart et al. 2011), but much more research is needed to determine just how and when it does—and does not—have negative impacts.

## **Social Space**

Personal space, crowding, territoriality, and privacy clearly are important parts of everyday functioning; social space matters. However, some might argue that enough is already known about these topics or that they do not have the societal-level importance of some topics covered previously. Research on social space has slowed to a trickle as efforts on topics deemed more important have increased.

Recent work confirms some expected outcomes, such as that being forced to sit close to others on public transport results in adverse reactions (Evans & Wener 2007). People who prefer seats at the end of long tables have a greater need to define their own territory (Kaya & Burgess 2007). Children who have been abused need more personal space around them (Vranic 2003). High density in a room alters preschoolers' choice of activities and time spent on off-task activities.

However, some less-predictable outcomes have also been reported, suggesting that despite the slowdown in social space research, not everything is known about how people use social space after all. For example, one might expect that territorial intrusions would result in faster responses by men than women, but at least in one context (a very large religious gathering) the reverse was true (Ruback & Kohli 2005). Technology is changing social space usage: Headphone wearers choose

larger interpersonal distances (Lloyd et al. 2009). Finally, who would guess that spatially confined shoppers react by making more varied and unique product choices (Levav & Zhu 2009)? Social space matters.

## **Physical Activity**

Around the world, whether waistlines a few years ago were relatively small or relatively large, they are now expanding. Getting people to move at all, and without the aid of GHG-producing machines, is a challenge both for human health and climate change mitigation. Physical activity matters.

Efforts have been made to make neighborhoods more walkable, schoolyards more encouraging of physical activity, and stairs more enticing. Walkable neighborhoods obviously include sidewalks, shops, and amenities, natural features such as trees and parks, and high residential density (e.g., Brown et al. 2007). Less obviously, walkable neighborhoods include slopes and stairs, moderate traffic volume, and public transportation stops (Borst et al. 2008).

Drawing attention to stairs, which too often are relegated to a dark side corner of a building's lobby, helps encourage their use. For example, when text encouraging the use of stairs was placed directly on four successive stair risers at eye level, stair use increased (Eves et al. 2009).

#### **CONCLUSION**

Scientific psychology began in the nineteenth century, but not until the middle of the twentieth century was psychology's range extended in any serious way to the physical environment. From the vantage point of the early twenty-first century, the psychology that attempted to understand persons in a physical vacuum is now revealed as woefully inadequate. Environmental psychology completes the picture by including the built and natural settings within which all humans exist. It is therefore essential not only to a complete understanding of human thought and behavior, but also for a full account of every other psychological process and for every application of psychology to the improvement of everyday life. Environmental psychology matters.

#### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The author is not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### LITERATURE CITED

Abrahamse W, Steg L, Gifford R, Vlek C. 2009. Factors influencing car use for commuting and the intention to reduce it: a question of self-interest or morality? *Transport. Res. Part F: Psychol. Behav.* 12:317–24

Abrahamse W, Steg L, Vlek C, Rothengatter T. 2005. A review of intervention studies aimed at household energy conservation. J. Environ. Psychol. 25:273–91

Abrahamse W, Steg L, Vlek C, Rothengatter T. 2007. The effect of tailored information, goal setting, and tailored feedback on household energy use, energy-related behaviors, and behavioral antecedents. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 27:265–76

Adeola F. 2009. Katrina cataclysm: Does duration of residency and prior experience affect impacts, evacuation, and adaptation behavior among survivors? Environ. Behav. 41:459–89

Ajzen I, ed. 2005. Attitudes, Personality and Behavior. Milton-Keynes, UK: McGraw-Hill

Am. Psychol. Assoc. 2010. Psychology and Global Climate Change: Addressing a Multifaceted Phenomenon and set of Challenges. Report of the American Psychological Association Task Force on the Interface Between Psychology and Global Climate Change. http://www.apa.org/science/about/publications/climate-change.aspx

- Arnocky S, Stroink M, DeCicco T. 2007. Self-construal predicts environmental concern, cooperation, and conservation. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 27:255–64
- Baca-Motes K, Brown A, Gneezy A, Keenan EA, Nelson LD. 2013. Commitment and behavior change: evidence from the field. *J. Consum. Res.* 39:1070–84
- Bamberg S. 2002. Effects of implementation intentions on the actual performance of new environmentally friendly behaviors—results of two field experiments. J. Environ. Psychol. 22:399–411
- Bamberg S, Möser G. 2007. Twenty years after Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera: a new meta-analysis of psycho-social determinants of pro-environmental behaviour. J. Environ. Psychol. 27:14–25
- Bamberg S, Schmidt P. 2003. Incentives, morality, or habit? Predicting students' car use for university routes with the models of Ajzen, Schwartz and Triandis. *Environ. Behav.* 35:264–85
- Bechtel RB, Churchman A, eds. 2002. Handbook of Environmental Psychology. New York: Wiley
- Belojevic G, Evans GW, Paunovic K, Jakovljevic B. 2012. Traffic noise and executive functioning in urban primary school children: the moderating role of gender. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 32:337–41
- Benfield JA, Bell PB, Troup LJ, Soderstrom N. 2010. Does anthropogenic noise in national parks impair memory? Environ. Behav. 42:693–706
- Berman MG, Jonides J, Kaplan S. 2008. The cognitive benefits of interacting with nature. *Psychol. Sci.* 19:1207–12
- Biel A, Eek D, Gärling T, Gustafsson M, eds. 2008. New Issues and Paradigms in Research on Social Dilemmas. New York: Springer
- Biel A, Nilsson A. 2005. Religious values and environmental concern: harmony and detachment. Soc. Sci. Q. 86:178–91
- Bolderdijk JW, Steg L, Geller ES, Lehman PK, Postmes T. 2013. Comparing the effectiveness of monetary versus moral motives in environmental campaigning. *Nat. Clim. Change* 3:413–16
- Borst HC, Miedema HME, de Vries SI, Graham JMA, van Dongen JEF. 2008. Relationships between street characteristics and perceived attractiveness for walking reported by elderly people. J. Environ. Psychol. 28:353–61
- Brown BB, Altman I, Werner CM. 2012. Place attachment. In *The International Encyclopedia of Housing and Home*, ed. M Pareja-Eastaway, pp. 183–88. Oxford, UK: Elsevier
- Brown BB, Perkins DD, Brown G. 2003. Place attachment in a revitalizing neighborhood: individual and block levels of analysis. J. Environ. Psychol. 23:259–71
- Brown BB, Werner CM, Amburgey JW, Szalay C. 2007. Walkable route perceptions and physical features: converging evidence for en route walking experiences. *Environ. Behav.* 39:34–61
- Brown G, Gifford R. 2001. Architects predict lay evaluations of large contemporary buildings: whose conceptual properties? 7. Environ. Psychol. 21:93–99
- Caia G, Ventimiglia F, Maass, A. 2010. Container vs. dacha: the psychological effects of temporary housing characteristics on earthquake survivors. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:60–66
- Campbell DT. 1963. Social attitudes and other acquired behavioral dispositions. In Psychology: A Study of a Science, Vol. 6, ed. S Koch, pp. 94–172. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Carrico AR, Riemer M. 2011. Motivating energy conservation in the workplace: an evaluation of the use of group-level feedback and peer education. J. Environ. Psychol. 31:1–13
- Carrus G, Passafaro P, Bonnes M. 2008. Emotions, habits and rational choices in ecological behaviours: the case of recycling and use of public transportation. J. Environ. Psychol. 28:51–62
- Catlin JR, Wang Y. 2013. Recycling gone bad: when the option to recycle increases resource consumption. 7. Consum. Psychol. 23:122–27
- Chen M-F, Tung P-J. 2010. The moderating effect of perceived lack of facilities on consumers' recycling intentions. Environ. Behav. 42:824–44
- Chen X, Peterson MN, Hull V, Lu C, Lee GD, et al. 2011. Effects of attitudinal and sociodemographic factors on pro-environmental behaviour in urban China. *Environ. Conserv.* 38:5–52
- Cheng JCH, Monroe MC. 2012. Connection to nature: children's affective attitude toward nature. Environ. Behav. 44:31–49
- Churchman A. 2012. Public participation around the world: introduction to the special theme issue. *J. Archit. Plan. Res.* 29:1–4

- Clayton S. 2003. Environmental identity: conceptual and operational definition. In *Identity and the Natural Environment: The Psychological Significance of Nature*, ed. S Clayton, S Opotow, pp. 45–65. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Clayton S, ed. 2012. The Oxford Handbook of Environmental and Conservation Psychology. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Coluccia E, Iosue G, Brandimonte MA. 2007. The relationship between map drawing and spatial orientation abilities: a study of gender differences. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 27:135–44
- Corral-Verdugo V, Bonnes M, Tapia-Fonllem C, Fraijo-Sing B, Frías-Armenta M, Carrus G. 2009. Correlates of pro-sustainability orientation: the affinity towards diversity. 7. Environ. Psychol. 29:34–43
- Corral-Verdugo V, Carrus G, Bonnes M, Moser G, Sinha JBP. 2008. Environmental beliefs and endorsement of sustainable development principles in water conservation: towards a New Human Interdependence Paradigm Scale. *Environ. Behav.* 40:703–25
- Corral-Verdugo V, Frías-Armenta M. 2006. Personal normative beliefs, antisocial behavior, and residential water conservation. Environ. Behav. 38:406–21
- Corral-Verdugo V, Pinheiro JQ. 2006. Sustainability, future orientation and water conservation. Rev. Eur. Psychol. Appl. 56:191–98
- Craik KH. 1973. Environmental psychology. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 24:403-22
- Danielsson CB, Bodin L. 2008. Office type in relation to health, well-being, and job satisfaction among employees. *Environ. Behav.* 40:636–68
- Davis JL, Green JD, Reed A. 2009. Interdependence with the environment: commitment, interconnectedness, and environmental behavior. J. Environ. Psychol. 29:173–80
- de Groot JIM, Steg L. 2007. Value orientations and environmental beliefs in five countries. J. Cross-Cult. Psychol. 38:318–32
- de Groot JIM, Steg L. 2010. Relationship between value orientations, self-determined motivational types and pro-environmental behavioural intentions. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 30:368–78
- Devine-Wright P, Howes Y. 2010. Disruption to place attachment and the protection of restorative environments: a wind energy case study. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 30:271–80
- Devlin AS, Donovan S, Nicolov A, Nold O, Packard A, Zandan G. 2009. "Impressive?" Credentials, family photographs, and the perception of therapist qualities. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 29:503–12
- Dietz T, Kalof L, Stern PC. 2002. Gender, values, and environmentalism. Soc. Sci. Q. 83:353-64
- Dono J, Webb J, Richardson B. 2010. The relationship between environmental activism, pro-environmental behavior and social identity. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 30:178–86
- Douglas D, Gifford R. 2001. Evaluation of the physical classroom by students and professors: a lens model approach. Educ. Res. 43:295–309
- Droseltis O, Vignoles VL. 2010. Towards an integrative model of place identification: dimensionality and predictors of intrapersonal-level place preferences. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 30:23–34
- Dunlap RE, Van Liere KD, Mertig AG, Jones ER. 2000. Measuring endorsement of the new ecological paradigm: a revised NEP scale. *J. Soc. Issues* 56:425–42
- Dutcher DD, Finley JC, Luloff AE. 2007. Connectivity with nature as a measure of environmental values. Environ. Behav. 39:474–93
- Engqvist Jonsson A-K, Nilsson A. 2013. Exploring the relationship between values and pro-environmental behavior: the influence of locus of control. *Environ. Values.* In press
- Evans GW, Saegert S. 2000. Residential crowding in the context of inner city poverty. In Theoretical Perspectives in Environment-Behavior Research: Underlying Assumptions, Research Problems, and Relationships, ed. S Wapner, J Demick, H Minamik, T Yamamoto, pp. 247–68. New York: Plenum
- Evans GW, Wells NM, Chan HE, Saltzman H. 2000. Housing quality and mental health. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 68:526–30
- Evans GW, Wener RE. 2007. Crowding and personal space invasion on the train: Please don't make me sit in the middle. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 27:90–94
- Evans GW, Yoo MJ, Sipple J. 2010. The ecological context of student achievement: School building quality effects are exacerbated by high levels of student mobility. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 30:239–44
- Evans L, Maio GR, Corner A, Hodgetts CJ, Ahmed S, Hahn U. 2013. Self-interest and pro-environmental behavior. Nat. Clim. Change 3:122–25

- Eves FF, Olander EK, Nicoll G, Puig-Ribera A, Griffin C. 2009. Increasing stair climbing in a train station: the effects of contextual variables and visibility. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 29:300–3
- Fawcett W, Ellingham I, Platt S. 2008. Reconciling the architectural preferences of architects and the public: the ordered preference model. *Environ. Behav.* 40:599–618
- Feinberg M, Willer R. 2013. The moral roots of environmental attitudes. Psychol. Sci. 24:56-62
- Felsten G. 2009. Where to take a study break on the college campus: an attention restoration theory prospective. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 29:160–67
- Ferguson MA, Branscombe NR. 2010. Collective guilt mediates the effect of beliefs about global warming on willingness to engage in mitigation behavior. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 30:135–42
- Fielding KS, Head BW. 2012. Determinants of young Australians' environmental actions: the role of responsibility attributions, locus of control, knowledge and attitudes. *Environ. Educ. Res.* 18:171–86
- Fielding KS, McDonald R, Louis WR. 2008. Theory of planned behaviour, identity and intentions to engage in environmental activism. J. Environ. Psychol. 28:318–26
- Fischhoff B, Furby L. 1983. Psychological dimensions of climatic change. In Social Science Research and Climate Change, ed. RS Chen, E Boulding, SH Schneider, pp. 183–203. Dordrecht, Neth.: Reidel
- Fornara F, Carrus G, Passafaro P, Bonnes M. 2011. Distinguishing the sources of normative influence on proenvironmental behaviours: the role of local norms in household waste recycling. *Group Proc. Intergroup Relat.* 5:623–35
- Fraj E, Martinez E. 2006. Influence of personality on ecological consumer behaviour. J. Consum. Behav. 5:167–81
- Frankenstein J, Mohler BJ, Bülthoff HH, Meilinger T. 2012. Is the map in our head pointed north? *Psychol. Sci.* 23:120–25
- Frantz CM, Mayer FS, Norton C, Rock M. 2005. There is no "I" in nature: the influence of self-awareness on connectedness to nature. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 25:427–36
- Franzen A. 2003. Environmental attitudes in international comparison: an analysis of the ISSP surveys 1993 and 2000. Soc. Sci. Q. 84:297–308
- Fujii S. 2006. Environmental concern, attitude toward frugality, and ease of behavior as determinants of pro-environmental behavior intentions. J. Environ. Psychol. 26:262–68
- García Mira R, Real JE, Uzzell D, San Juan C, Pol E. 2006. Coping with a threat to quality of life: the case of the "Prestige" disaster. Eur. Rev. Appl. Psychol. 56:53–60
- Gardner GT, Stern PC. 2002. Environmental Problems and Human Behavior. Boston, MA: Pearson. 2nd ed.
- Gardner GT, Stern PC. 2008. The short list: the most effective actions U.S. households can take to curb climate change. Environment 50:12–25
- Gärling T, Biel A, Gustafsson M. 2002. The new environmental psychology: the human interdependence paradigm. See Bechtel & Churchman 2002, pp. 85–94
- Gärling T, Loukopoulos P. 2007. Effectiveness, public acceptance, and political feasibility of coercive measures for reducing car traffic. See Gärling & Steg 2007, pp. 313–24
- Gärling T, Schuitema G. 2007. Travel demand management targeting reduced private car use: effectiveness, public acceptability and political feasibility. J. Soc. Issues 63:139–53
- Gärling T, Steg L, eds. 2007. Threats to the Quality of Urban Life from Car Traffic: Problems, Causes, and Solutions.

  Amsterdam: Elsevier
- Gatersleben B, Steg L, Vlek C. 2002. Measurement and determinants of environmentally significant consumer behavior. Environ. Behav. 34:335–62
- Geller ES. 2002. The challenge of increasing proenvironmental behavior. See Bechtel & Churchman 2002, pp. 525–40
- Gifford R. 2002. Making a difference: some ways that environmental psychology has made a difference. See Bechtel & Churchman 2002, pp. 323–34
- Gifford R. 2006. A general model of social dilemmas. Int. 7. Ecol. Econ. Stat. 5:23-40
- Gifford R. 2007a. Environmental Psychology: Principles and Practice. Colville, WA: Optimal Books. 4th ed.
- Gifford R. 2007b. Environmental psychology and sustainable development: expansion, maturation, and challenges. 7. Soc. Issues 63:199–212
- Gifford R. 2007c. The consequences of living in high-rise buildings. Arch. Sci. Rev. 50:2–17

- Gifford R. 2008a. Psychology's essential role in alleviating the impacts of climate change. Can. Psychol. 49:273–80
- Gifford R. 2008b. Toward a comprehensive model of social dilemmas. In *New Issues and Paradigms in Research on Social Dilemmas*, ed. A Biel, D Eek, T Gärling, M Gustafsson, pp. 265–79. New York: Springer
- Gifford R. 2011. The dragons of inaction: psychological barriers that limit climate change mitigation. Am. Psychol. 66:290–302
- Gifford R, Comeau L. 2011. Message framing influences perceived climate change competence, engagement, and behavioral intentions. Global Environ. Change 21:1301–7
- Gifford J, Gifford R. 2000. FISH 3: A microworld for studying social dilemmas and resource management. Behav. Res. Methods Instrum. Comput. 32:417–22
- Gifford R, Hine DW, Muller-Clemm W, Reynolds DJ, Shaw KT. 2000. Decoding modern architecture: understanding the aesthetic differences of architects and laypersons. *Environ. Behav.* 32:163–87
- Gifford R, Hine DW, Muller-Clemm W, Shaw KT. 2002. Why architects and laypersons judge buildings differently: cognitive and physical bases. J. Archit. Plan. Res. 19:131–48
- Gifford R, Kormos C, McIntyre A. 2011a. Behavioral dimensions of climate change: drivers, responses, barriers, and interventions. WIREs Clim. Change. doi:10.1002/wcc.143
- Gifford R, Lacombe C. 2006. Housing quality and children's socioemotional health. J. Hous. Built Environ. 21:177–89
- Gifford R, Scannell L, Kormos C, Smolova L, Biel A, et al. 2009. Temporal pessimism and spatial optimism in environmental assessments: an 18-nation study. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 29:1–12
- Gifford R, Steg L. 2007. The impact of automobile traffic on quality of life. See Gärling & Steg 2007, pp. 33–51
- Gifford R, Steg L, Reser JP. 2011b. Environmental psychology. In IAAP Handbook of Applied Psychology, ed. P Martin, F Cheung, M Kyrios, L Littlefield, M Knowles, B Overmier, JP Prieto, pp. 440–70. Chichester, UK: Wiley Blackwell
- Giuliani MV. 2003. Theory of attachment and place attachment. In Psychological Theories for Environmental Issues, ed. M Bonnes, T Lee, M Bonaiuto, pp. 137–70. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate
- Giuliani MV, Scopelliti M. 2009. Empirical research in environmental psychology: past, present, and future. J. Environ. Psychol. 29:375–86
- Graumann CF. 2002. The phenomenological approach to people-environment studies. See Bechtel & Churchman 2002, pp. 95–113
- Grønhøj A, Thøgersen J. 2009. Like father, like son? Intergenerational transmission of values, attitudes, and behaviours in the environmental domain. *J. Environ. Behav.* 29:414–21
- Han K-T. 2007. Responses to six major terrestrial biomes in terms of scenic beauty, preference, and restorativeness. Environ. Behav. 39:529–56
- Hansla A, Gamble A, Juliusson A, Gärling T. 2008. The relationships between awareness of consequences, environmental concern, and value orientations. *T. Environ. Psychol.* 28:1–9
- Hartig T, Staats H. 2003. Guest editors' introduction: restorative environments. J. Environ. Psychol. 23:103–7
  Hartig T, Staats H. 2006. The need for psychological restoration as a determinant of environmental preferences. J. Environ. Psychol. 26:215–26
- Hay R. 1998. Sense of place in developmental context. 7. Environ. Psychol. 18:5–29
- Heath Y, Gifford R. 2002. Extending the theory of planned behavior: predicting the use of public transportation. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 32:2154–85
- Heath Y, Gifford R. 2006. Free-market ideology and environmental degradation. *Environ. Behav.* 38:48–71
- Heft H. 1998. Essay review: the elusive environment in environmental psychology. Br. J. Psychol. 89: 519-23
- Heft H. 2001. Ecological Psychology in Context: James Gibson, Roger Barker, and the Legacy of William James's Radical Empiricism. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum
- Heft H. 2012. The foundations of ecological psychology. In The Oxford Handbook of Environmental and Conservation Psychology, ed. S Clayton, pp. 1–40. New York: Oxford
- Heft H. 2013. Environment, cognition, and culture: reconsidering the cognitive map. J. Environ. Psychol. 33:14–25
- Hernandez D, Hidalgo MC, Salazar-Laplace E, Hess S. 2007. Place attachment and place identity in natives and non-natives. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 27:310–19

- Herring H, Sorrell S, eds. 2008. Energy Efficiency and Sustainable Consumption: Dealing with the Rebound Effect. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan
- Herzog TR, Hayes LJ, Applin RC, Weatherly AM. 2011. Incompatibility and mental fatigue. *Environ. Behav.* 43:827–47
- Herzog TR, Ouellette P, Rolens JR, Koenigs AM. 2010. Houses of worship as restorative environments. Environ. Behav. 42:395–419
- Herzog TR, Rector AE. 2009. Perceived danger and judged likelihood of restoration. *Environ. Behav.* 41:387–401
- Hidalgo MC, Hernández B. 2001. Place attachment: conceptual and empirical questions. J. Environ. Psychol. 21:273–81
- Hidayetoglu ML, Yildirim K, Akalin A. 2012. The effects of color and light on indoor wayfinding and the evaluation of the perceived environment. 7. Environ. Psychol. 32:50–58
- Hinds J, Sparks P. 2008. Engaging with the natural environment: the role of affective connection and identity. 7. Environ. Psychol. 28:109–20
- Hine DW, Bhullar N, Marks ADG, Kelly P, Scott JG. 2011. Comparing the effectiveness of education and technology in reducing wood smoke pollution: a field experiment. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 31:282–88
- Hine DW, Gifford R, Heath Y, Cooksey R, Quain P. 2009. A cue utilization approach for investigating harvest decisions in commons dilemmas. *7. Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 39:564–88
- Hine DW, Marks ADG, Nachreiner M, Gifford R, Heath Y. 2007. Keeping the home fires burning: the affect heuristic and wood smoke pollution. *Environ. Psychol.* 27:26–32
- Hines JM, Hungerford HR, Tomera AN. 1986–1987. Analysis and synthesis of research on responsible environmental behavior: a meta-analysis. *J. Environ. Educ.* 18:1–8
- Hirsh JB. 2010. Personality and environmental concern. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:245-48
- Hölscher C, Meilinger T, Vrachliotis G, Brösamle M, Knauff M. 2006. Up the down staircase: wayfinding strategies in multi-level buildings. J. Environ. Psychol. 26:284–99
- Howes Y, Gifford R. 2009. Stable or dynamic value importance?: The interaction between value endorsement level and situational differences on decision-making in environmental issues. *Environ. Behav.* 41:549–82
- Hua Y, Loftness V, Heerwagen JH, Powell KM. 2011. Relationship between workplace spatial settings and occupant-perceived support for collaboration. Environ. Behav. 43:807–26
- Hur M, Morrow-Jones H. 2008. Factors that influence residents' satisfaction with neighborhoods. Environ. Behav. 40:619–35
- Intergov. Panel Climate Change. 2007. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Summary for Policymakers. 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK/New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Ishikawa T, Fujiwara H, Imai O, Okabe A. 2008. Wayfinding with a GPS-based mobile navigation system: a comparison with maps and direct experience. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 28:74–82
- Jahncke H, Hygge S, Halin N, Green AM, Dimberg K. 2011. Open-plan office noise: cognitive performance and restoration. J. Environ. Psychol. 31:373–82
- Jansen-Osmann P, Berendt B. 2002. Investigating distance knowledge using virtual environments. Environ. Behav. 34:178–93
- Jansen-Osmann P, Wiedenbauer G. 2004. The representation of landmarks and routes in children and adults: a study in a virtual environment. J. Environ. Psychol. 24:347–57
- Joireman JA, Van Lange PAM, Van Vugt M. 2004. Who cares about the environmental impact of cars? Environ. Behav. 36:187–206
- Jorgensen BS, Stedman RC. 2001. Sense of place as an attitude: lakeshore owners attitudes toward their properties. J. Environ. Psychol. 21:233–48
- Joye Y. 2007. Architectural lessons from environmental psychology: the case of biophilic architecture. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 11:305–28
- Kaiser FG, Byrka K. 2011. Environmentalism as a trait: gauging people's prosocial personality in terms of environmental engagement. Int. 7. Psychol. 46:71–79
- Kaiser FG, Byrka K, Hartig T. 2010. Reviving Campbell's paradigm for attitude research. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev. 14:351–67

- Kaiser FG, Gutscher H. 2003. The proposition of a general version of the theory of planned behavior: predicting ecological behavior. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 33:586–603
- Kaiser FG, Oerke B, Bogner FX. 2007. Behavior-based environmental attitude: development of an instrument for adolescents. 7. Environ. Psychol. 27:242–51
- Kaplan S. 1995. The restorative benefits of nature: towards an integrative framework. J. Environ. Psychol. 15:169–82
- Kaplan S, Kaplan R. 2009. Creating a larger role for environmental psychology: the reasonable person model as an integrative framework. 7. Environ. Psychol. 29:329–39
- Karpiak CP, Baril GL. 2008. Moral reasoning and concern for the environment. J. Environ. Psychol. 28:203–8Kaya N, Burgess B. 2007. Territoriality: seat preferences in different types of classroom arrangements. Environ.Behav. 36:859–76
- Kazdin AE. 2009. Psychological science's contributions to a sustainable environment: extending our reach to a grand challenge of society. *Am. Psychol.* 64:339–56
- Keizer K, Lindenberg S, Steg L. 2008. The spreading of disorder. Science 322:1681–85
- Kim J, Kaplan R. 2004. Physical and psychological factors in sense of community: new urbanist Kentlands and nearby Orchard Village. Environ. Behav. 36:313–40
- Kjellgren A, Buhrkall H. 2010. A comparison of the restorative effect of a natural environment with that of a simulated natural environment. 7. Environ. Psychol. 30:464–72
- Knez I. 2005. Attachment and identity as related to a place and its perceived climate. J. Environ. Psychol. 25:207–18
- Knussen C, Yule F. 2008. "I'm not in the habit of recycling": the role of habitual behavior in the disposal of household waste. Environ. Behav. 40:683–702
- Kolmuss A, Agyeman J. 2002. Mind the gap: Why do people act environmentally and what are the barriers to pro-environmental behavior? Environ. Educ. Res. 8:239–60
- Kopelman S, Weber JM, Messick DM. 2002. Factors influencing cooperation in commons dilemmas: a review of experimental psychological research. In *The Drama of the Commons*, ed. E Ostrom, T Dietz, N Dolšak, PC Stern, S Stonich, EU Weber, pp. 113–56. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- Korpela K, Kytta M, Hartig T. 2002. Restorative experience, self-regulation, and children's place preferences. 7. Environ. Psychol. 22:387–98
- Kuo FE, Sullivan WC. 2001. Environment and crime in the inner city: Does vegetation reduce crime? Environ. Behav. 33:343–67
- Kweon BS, Ulrich RS, Walker VD, Tassinary LG. 2008. Anger and stress: the role of landscape posters in an office setting. *Environ. Behav.* 40:355–81
- Kyle GT, Graefe A, Manning R, Bacon J. 2004a. Effect of activity involvement and place attachment on recreationists' perceptions of setting density. *J. Leisure Res.* 36:209–31
- Kyle GT, Mowen AJ, Tarrant M. 2004b. Linking place preferences with place meaning: an examination of the relationship between place motivation and place attachment. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 24:439–54
- Lansdale M, Parkin P, Austin S, Baguley T. 2011. Designing for interaction in research environments: a case study. 7. Environ. Psychol. 31:407–20
- Lederbogen F, Kirsch P, Haddad L, Streit F, Tost H, et al. 2011. City living and urban upbringing affect neural social stress processing in humans. *Nature* 474:498–501
- Lehman PK, Geller ES. 2004. Behavior analysis and environmental protection: accomplishments and potential for more. *Behav. Soc. Issues* 13:13–32
- Levay J, Zhu R. 2009. Seeking freedom through variety. 7. Consum. Res. 36:600-10
- Levi D, Kocher S. 1999. Virtual nature: the future effects of information technology on our relationship to nature. Environ. Behav. 31:203–26
- Lewicka M. 2005. Ways to make people active: the role of place attachment, cultural capital, and neighborhood ties. 7. Environ. Psychol. 25:381–95
- Lewicka M. 2010. What makes neighborhood different from home and city? Effects of place scale on place attachment. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:35–51
- Lewicka M. 2011. Place attachment: How far have we come in the last 40 years? J. Environ. Psychol. 31:207–30Lichtenfeld S, Elliot AJ, Maier MA, Pekrun R. 2012. Fertile green: Green facilitates creative performance.Personal. Soc. Psychol. 38:784–97

- Lima ML, Castro P. 2005. Cultural theory meets the community: worldviews and local issues. J. Environ. Psychol. 25:23–35
- Lindenberg S, Steg L. 2007. Normative, gain and hedonic goal frames guiding environmental behavior. J. Soc. Issues 63:117–37
- Ljung R, Sörqvist P, Hygge S. 2009. Effects of road traffic noise and irrelevant speech on children's reading and mathematical performance. Noise Health 11:1 94–98
- Lloyd DM, Coates A, Knopp J, Oram S, Rowbotham S. 2009. Don't stand so close to me: the effect of auditory input on interpersonal space. *Perception* 38:617–20
- Lokhorst AM, Werner C, Staats H, van Dijk E, Gale JL. 2013. Commitment and behavior change: a metaanalysis and critical review of commitment-making strategies in environmental research. *Environ. Behav.* 45:3–34
- Lorenzoni I, Nicholson-Cole S, Whitmarsh L. 2007. Barriers perceived to engaging with climate change among the UK public and their policy implications. Glob. Environ. Change 17:445–59
- Maeda H, Hirose Y. 2009. Expectation of empowerment as a determinant of citizen participation in waste management planning. *Jap. Psychol. Res.* 51:24–34
- Manzo LC. 2003. Beyond house and haven: toward a revisioning of emotional relationships with places. 7. Environ. Psychol. 23:47–61
- Manzo LC. 2005. For better or worse: exploring multiple dimensions of place meaning. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 25:67–86
- Manzo LC, Perkins DD. 2006. Neighborhoods as common ground: the importance of place attachment to community participation and development. *7. Plan. Lit.* 20:335–50
- Marans RW, Stimson R, eds. 2011. Investigating Quality of Urban Life: Theory, Methods, and Empirical Research.

  Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- Markowitz EM, Goldberg LR, Ashton MC, Lee K. 2012. Profiling the "pro-environmental individual": a personality perspective. *J. Personal.* 80:81–111
- Marques S, Lima ML. 2011. Living in grey areas: industrial activity and psychological health. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 31:314–22
- Marzbali MH, Abdullah A, Razak NA, Tilaki MJM. 2012. The influence of crime prevention through environmental design on victimisation and fear of crime. J. Environ. Psychol. 32:79–88
- Matthies E, Selge S, Klöckner CA. 2012. The role of parental behaviour for the development of behaviour specific environmental norms—the example of recycling and re-use behaviour. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 32:277–84
- Mayer FS, Frantz CM. 2004. The connectedness to nature scale: a measure of individuals' feeling in community with nature. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 24:503–15
- Mazumdar S, Mazumdar S. 2004. Religion and place attachment: a study of sacred places. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 24:385–97
- McCoy JM, Evans GW. 2002. The potential role of the physical environment in fostering creativity. *Creat. Res. J.* 14:409–26
- McCright AM, Dunlap RE. 2012. Bringing ideology in: the conservative white male effect on worry about environmental problems in the USA. 7. Risk Res. 16:211–26
- McCunn LJ, Gifford R. 2012. Do green offices affect employee engagement and environmental motivation? Archit. Sci. Rev. 55:128–34
- McDonald RI, Fielding KS, Louis WR. 2013. Energizing and de-motivating effects of norm conflict. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 39:57–72
- McKenzie-Mohr D. 2000. Fostering sustainable behaviour through community-based social marketing. *Am. Psychol.* 55:531–37
- Milfont TL, Duckitt J. 2010. The Environmental Attitudes Inventory: a valid and reliable measure to assess the structure of environmental attitudes. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 30:80–94
- Milfont TL, Gouveia VV. 2006. Time perspective and values: an exploratory study of their relations to environmental attitudes. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 26:72–82
- Milfont TL, Sibley CG. 2012. The big five personality traits and environmental engagement: associations at the individual and societal level. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 32:187–95

- Mishra S, Mazumdar S, Suar D. 2010. Place attachment and flood preparedness. J. Environ. Psychol. 20:187–97Miwa Y, Hanyu K. 2006. The effects of interior design on communication and impressions of a counselor in a counseling room. Environ. Behav. 38:484–502
- Mobley C, Vagias WM, DeWard SL. 2010. Exploring additional determinants of environmental behavior: the role of environmental literature and environmental attitudes. *Environ. Behav.* 42:420–47
- Morgan P. 2010. Towards a developmental theory of place attachment. 7. Environ. Psychol. 30:11-22
- Moser SC. 2010. Communicating climate change: history, challenges, process and future directions. WIRES Clim. Change 1:31–53
- Mostafa MM. 2012. Does globalisation affect consumers' pro-environmental intentions? A multilevel analysis across 25 countries. *Int. 7. Sustain. Dev. World Ecol.* 19:1–9
- Nasar JL, Stamps AE, Hanyu K. 2005. Form and function in public buildings. J. Environ. Psychol. 25:159–65
  Ng CF. 2003. Satisfying shoppers' psychological needs: from public market to cyber-mall. J. Environ. Psychol. 23:439–55
- Nilsson A, von Borgstede C, Biel A. 2004. Willingness to accept climate change strategies: the effect of values and norms. J. Environ. Psychol. 24:267–77
- Nisbet EK, Zelenski JM. 2011. Underestimating nearby nature: affective forecasting errors obscure the happy path to sustainability. Psychol. Sci. 22:1101–6
- Nisbet EK, Zelenski JM, Murphy SA. 2009. The nature relatedness scale: linking individuals' connection with nature to environmental concern and behavior. *Environ. Behav.* 41:715–40
- Nolan JM, Schultz PW, Cialdini RB, Goldstein NJ, Griskevicius V. 2008. Normative social influence is underdetected. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 34:913–23
- Nordlund AM, Garvill J. 2002. Value structures behind proenvironmental behavior. *Environ. Behav.* 34:740–56 Nordlund AM, Garvill J. 2003. Effects of values, problem awareness and personal norm on willingness to reduce personal car use. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 23:339–47
- Oishi S. 2010. The psychology of residential mobility: implications for the self, social relationships, and well-being. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 5:5–21
- Ojala M. 2008. Recycling and ambivalence: quantitative and qualitative analyses of household recycling among young adults. Environ. Behav. 40:777–97
- Oreg S, Katz-Gerro T. 2006. Predicting proenvironmental behavior cross-nationally. *Environ. Behav.* 38:462–83
- Ornstein R, Ehrlich P. 2000. New World New Mind. Malor Books
- Osbaldiston R, Schott JP. 2012. Environmental sustainability and behavioral science: meta-analysis of proenvironmental behavior experiments. *Environ. Behav.* 44:257–99
- Osmond H. 1957. Function as the basis of psychiatric ward design. Ment. Hosp. (Archit. Suppl.) 8:23–30
- Passini R, Pigot H, Rainville C, Tétreault M-H. 2000. Wayfinding in a nursing home for advanced dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *Environ. Behav.* 32:684–710
- Pendola R, Gen S. 2008. Does "Main Street" promote sense of community? A comparison of San Francisco neighbourhoods. Environ. Behav. 40:535–74
- Peponis J, Bafna S, Bajaj R, Bromberg J, Congdon C, et al. 2007. Designing space to support knowledge work. Environ. Behav. 39:815–40
- Pichert D, Katsikopoulos KV. 2008. Green defaults: information presentation and pro-environmental behaviour. J. Environ. Psychol. 28:63–73
- Pierrette M, Marquis-Favre C, Morel J, Rioux L, Vallet M, et al. 2012. Noise annoyance from industrial and road traffic combined noises: a survey and a total annoyance model comparison. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 32:178–86
- Poortinga W, Steg L, Vlek C. 2003. Myths of nature and environmental management strategies. A field study on energy reductions in traffic and transport. In *People, Places, and Sustainability*, ed. G Moser, E Pol, Y Bernard, M Bonnes, J Corraliza, pp. 280–90. Ashland, OH: Hogrefe & Huber
- Raanaas RK, Evensen KH, Rich D, Sjostrom G, Patil C. 2011. Benefits of indoor plants on attention capacity in an office setting. 7. Environ. Psychol. 31:99–105
- Rabinovich A, Morton M, Birney ME. 2012. Communicating climate science: the role of perceived communicator's motives. J. Environ. Psychol. 32:11–18

- Räthzel N, Uzzell, D. 2009. Changing relations in global environmental change. *Glob. Environ. Change* 19:326–35
- Raymond CM, Brown G, Robinson GM. 2011. The influence of place attachment, and moral and normative concerns on the conservation of native vegetation: a test of two behavioural models. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 31:323–35
- Reser JP, Swim JK. 2011. Adapting and coping with the threat and impacts of climate change. *Am. Psychol.* 66:277–89
- Rice G. 2006. Pro-environmental behavior in Egypt: Is there a role for Islamic environmental ethics? *J. Bus. Ethics* 65:373–90
- Robelia B, Murphy T. 2012. What do people know about key environmental issues? A review of environmental knowledge surveys. Environ. Educ. Res. 18:299–321
- Ruback RB, Kohli N. 2005. Territoriality at the Magh Mela: the effects of organizational factors and intruder characteristics. Environ. Behav. 37:178–200
- Sardianou E. 2007. Estimating energy conservation patterns of Greek households. Energy Policy 35:3778-91
- Scannell L, Gifford R. 2010a. The relations between natural and civic place attachment and pro-environmental behavior. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:289–97
- Scannell L, Gifford R. 2010b. Defining place attachment: a tripartite organizing framework. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:1–10
- Scannell L. Gifford R. 2013. The role of place attachment in receptivity to local and global climate change messages. Environ. Behav. 45:60–85
- Schmuck P, Schultz WP, eds. 2002. Psychology of Sustainable Development. Dordrecht, Neth.: Kluwer Acad.
- Schultz PW, Gouveia VV, Cameron LD, Tankha G, Schmuck P, Franek M. 2005. Values and their relationship to environmental concern and conservation behavior. *7. Cross-Cult. Psychol.* 36:457–75
- Schultz PW, Nolan JM, Cialdini RB, Goldstein NJ, Griskevicius V. 2007. The constructive, destructive, and reconstructive power of social norms. Psychol. Sci. 18:429–34
- Schultz PW, Shriver C, Tabanico JL, Khazian AM. 2004. Implicit connections with nature. J. Environ. Psychol. 24:31–42
- Schwartz SH. 1992. Universals in the content and structures of values: theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. In Advances in Experimental Psychology, Vol. 25, ed. M Zanna, pp. 1–65. Orlando, FL: Academic
- Scopelliti M, Giuliani MV. 2004. Choosing restorative environments across the lifespan: a matter of place experience. J. Environ. Psychol. 24:423–37
- Scopelliti M, Tiberio L. 2010. Homesickness in university students: the role of multiple place attachment. Environ. Behav. 42:335–50
- Seamon D. 2012. Place, place identity, and phenomenology. In *The Role of Place Identity in the Perception*, Understanding, and Design of the Built Environment, ed. H Casakin, F Bernardo, pp. 3–21. London: Bentham
- Semenza JC, March TL. 2009. An urban community-based intervention to advance social interactions. Environ. Behav. 41:22–42
- Smit B, Wandel J. 2006. Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability. Glob. Environ. Change 16:282-92
- Smith JR, Louis WR, Terry DJ, Greenaway KH, Clarke MR, Cheng X. 2012. Congruent or conflicted? The impact of injunctive and descriptive norms on environmental intentions. J. Environ. Psychol. 32:353–61
- Smith-Jackson TL, Klein KW. 2009. Open-plan offices: task performance and mental workload. J. Environ. Psychol. 29:279–89
- Smolders KCHJ, de Kort YAW, Tenner AD, Kaiser FG. 2012. Need for recovery in offices: behaviour-based assessment. 7. Environ. Psychol. 32:126–34
- Sommer R. 1969. Personal Space: The Behavioral Basis of Design. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall
- Sommer R. 1983. Social Design: Creating Buildings With People in Mind. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall
- Sörqvist P. 2010. Effects of aircraft noise and speech on prose memory: what role for working memory capacity? J. Environ. Psychol. 30:112–18
- Spence A, Pidgeon N, Uzzell D. 2008. Climate change: psychology's contribution. Psychologist 22:108–11
- Staats H, Harland P, Wilke HAM. 2004. Effecting durable change: a team approach to improve environmental behavior in the household. *Environ. Behav.* 36:341–67

- Stamps AE. 2005. Enclosure and safety in urbanscapes. Environ. Behav. 37:102-33
- Stamps AE. 2010. Effects of permeability on perceived enclosure and spaciousness. *Environ. Behav.* 42:864–86 Stamps AE. 2012. Atmospheric permeability and perceived enclosure. *Environ. Behav.* 44:427–46
- Stansfeld SA, Clark C, Cameron RM, Alfred T, Head J, et al. 2009. Aircraft and road traffic noise exposure
- and children's mental health. J. Environ. Psychol. 29:203–7

  Stedman RC. 2003. Is it really just a social construction? The contribution of the physical environment to sense of place. Soc. Natural Resour. 16:671–85
- Steg L, Dreijerink L, Abrahamse W. 2005. Factors influencing the acceptability of energy policies: a test of VBN theory. 7. Environ. Psychol. 25:415–25
- Steg L, Gifford R. 2005. Sustainable transportation and quality of life. J. Transp. Geogr. 13:59-69
- Steg L, Vlek C. 2009. Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: an integrative review and research agenda. J. Environ. Psychol. 29:309–17
- Stern PC. 2000. Toward a coherent theory of environmentally significant behavior. J. Soc. Issues 56:407-24
- Stern PC. 2008. Environmentally significant behavior in the home. In *The Cambridge Handbook of Psychology and Economic Behaviour*, ed. A. Lewis, pp. 363–82. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Stern PC, Dietz T, Kalof L. 1993. Value orientations, gender, and environmental concern. Environ. Behav. 25:322–48
- Stewart J, McManus F, Rodgers N, Weedon V, Bronzaft A. 2011. Why Noise Matters: A Worldwide Perspective on the Problems, Policies and Solutions. London: Routledge
- Stokols D, Clitheroe C, Zmuidzinas M. 2002. Qualities of work environments that promote perceived support for creativity. Creativ. Res. J. 14:137–47
- Stokols D, Misra S, Runnerstrom MG, Hipp JA. 2009. Psychology in an age of ecological crisis: from personal angst to collective action. Am. Psychol. 64:181–93
- Stokols D, Montero M. 2002. Toward an environmental psychology of the Internet. See Bechtel & Churchman 2002, pp. 661–75
- Sullivan WC, Kuo FE, DePooter SF. 2004. The fruit of urban nature: vital neighborhood spaces. *Environ. Behav.* 36:678–700
- Sundstrom E, Bell PA, Busby PL, Asmus C. 1996. Environmental psychology 1989–1994. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 47:485–512
- Sussman R, Gifford R. 2012. Please turn off the lights: the effectiveness of visual prompts. *Appl. Ergon.* 43:596–603
- Sussman R, Greeno M, Gifford R, Scannell L. 2013. The effectiveness of models and prompts on waste diversion: a field experiment on composting by cafeteria patrons. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 43:24–34
- Swami V, Chamorro-Premuzic T, Snelgar R, Furnham A. 2011. Personality, individual differences, and demographic antecedents of self-reported household waste management behaviours. J. Environ. Psychol. 31:21–26
- Swim JK, Stern PC, Doherty TJ, Clayton S, Reser JP, et al. 2011. Psychology's contributions to understanding and addressing global climate change. *Am. Psychol.* 66:241–50
- Tabernero C, Hernández B. 2011. Self-efficacy and intrinsic motivation guiding environmental behavior. Environ. Behav. 43:658–75
- Tang Z, Chen X, Luo J. 2011. Determining socio-psychological drivers for rural household recycling behavior in developing countries. Environ. Behav. 43:848–77
- Taylor AF, Kuo F, Sullivan WC. 2001. Coping with ADD: the surprising connection to green play settings. Environ. Behav. 33:54–77
- Thøgersen J. 2005. How may consumer policy empower consumers for sustainable lifestyles? J. Consum. Policy 28:143–78
- Thøgersen J. 2007. Social marketing of alternative transportation modes. See Gärling & Steg 2007, pp. 367–81
  Thøgersen J, Grønhøj A. 2010. Electricity saving in households—a social cognitive approach. Energy Policy 38:7732–43
- Thøgersen J, Ölander F. 2003. Spillover of environment-friendly consumer behaviour. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 23:225–36
- Thompson CW, Aspinall P, Montarzino A. 2008. The childhood factor: adult visits to green places and the significance of childhood experience. *Environ. Behav.* 40:111–43

- Ulrich RS. 1984. View through a window may influence recovery from surgery. Science 224:420-21
- Uzzell D, Pol E, Badenas D. 2002. Place identification, social cohesion, and environmental sustainability. Environ. Behav. 34:26–53
- Uzzell D, Räthzel N. 2009. Transforming environmental psychology. 7. Environ. Psychol. 29:340-50
- Uzzell DL. 2000. The psycho-spatial dimensions of global environmental problems. J. Environ. Psychol. 20:307–18
- van den Berg AE, ter Heijne M. 2005. Fear versus fascination: an exploration of emotional responses to natural threats. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 25:261–72
- Vaske JJ, Kobrin KC. 2001. Place attachment and environmentally responsible behavior. J. Environ. Educ. 32:16–21
- Veitch JA, Newsham GR, Mancini S, Arsenault CD. 2010. Lighting and office renovation effects on employee and organizational well-being. Rep. IRC-RR-306. Ottawa, Can.: Natl. Res. Counc. Inst. Res. Constr.
- Veitch JA, Stokkermans MGM, Newsham GR. 2011. Linking lighting appraisals to work behaviors. Environ. Behav. 45:198–214
- Venables D, Pidgeon NF, Parkhill KA, Henwood KL, Simmons P. 2012. Living with nuclear power: sense of place, proximity, and risk perceptions in local host communities. J. Environ. Psychol. 32:371–83
- Vlek C. 2000. Essential psychology for environmental policy making. Int. J. Psychol. 35:153-67
- Vorkinn M, Riese H. 2001. Environmental concern in a local context: the significance of place attachment. Environ. Behav. 33:249–63
- Vranic A. 2003. Personal space in physically abused children. Environ. Behav. 35:550-65
- Wang N, Boubekri M. 2010. Investigation of declared seating preference and measured cognitive performance in a sunlit room. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:226–38
- Wells JC, Baldwin ED. 2012. Historic preservation, significance, and age value: a comparative phenomenology of historic Charleston and the nearby new-urbanist community of I'On. 7. Environ. Psychol. 32:384–400
- Wells NM, Harris JD. 2007. Housing quality, psychological distress, and the mediating role of social withdrawal: a longitudinal study of low-income women. 7. Environ. Psychol. 27:69–78
- Wells NM, Lekies KS. 2006. Nature and the life course: pathways from childhood nature experiences to adult environmentalism. Child. Youth Environ. 16:1–24
- Werner CM, Cook S, Colby J, Lim HJ. 2012. "Lights out" in university classrooms: Brief group discussion can change behaviour. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 32:418–26
- White M, Smith A, Humphryes K, Pahl S, Snelling D, Depledge M. 2010. Blue space: the importance of water for preference, affect, and restorativeness ratings of natural and built scenes. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 30:482–93
- Whitmarsh L. 2009. Behavioural responses to climate change: asymmetry of intentions and impacts. J. Environ. Psychol. 29:13–23
- Whitmarsh L, O'Neill S. 2010. Green identity, green living? The role of pro-environmental self-identity in determining consistency across diverse pro-environmental behaviours. J. Environ. Psychol. 30:305–14
- Williams K, Harvey D. 2001. Transcendent experience in forest environments. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 21:249–60 Xiao C, Hong D. 2010. Gender differences in environmental behaviors in China. *Popul. Environ.* 32:88–104
- Yildirim K, Akalin-Baskaya A, Celebi M. 2007. The effects of window proximity, partition height, and gender on perceptions of open-plan offices. 7. Environ. Psychol. 27:154–65



# Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 65, 2014

# Contents

_			
Dτ	ota	tor	<b>T</b> 7
	CIA		v

I Study What I Stink At: Lessons Learned from a Career in Psychology  *Robert J. Sternberg**
Stress and Neuroendocrinology
Oxytocin Pathways and the Evolution of Human Behavior  C. Sue Carter
Genetics of Behavior
Gene-Environment Interaction Stephen B. Manuck and Jeanne M. McCaffery4
Cognitive Neuroscience
The Cognitive Neuroscience of Insight  John Kounios and Mark Beeman
Color Perception
Color Psychology: Effects of Perceiving Color on Psychological Functioning in Humans Andrew J. Elliot and Markus A. Maier
Infancy
Human Infancy and the Rest of the Lifespan  Marc H. Bornstein
Adolescence and Emerging Adulthood
Bullying in Schools: The Power of Bullies and the Plight of Victims  **Jaana Juvonen and Sandra Graham** 15
Is Adolescence a Sensitive Period for Sociocultural Processing?  Sarah-Jayne Blakemore and Kathryn L. Mills
Adulthood and Aging
Psychological Research on Retirement  Mo Wang and Junqi Shi
Development in the Family
Adoption: Biological and Social Processes Linked to Adaptation  Harold D. Grotevant and Jennifer M. McDermott

Individual Treatment
Combination Psychotherapy and Antidepressant Medication Treatment for Depression: For Whom, When, and How  W. Edward Craighead and Boadie W. Dunlop
Adult Clinical Neuropsychology
Sport and Nonsport Etiologies of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Similarities and Differences Amanda R. Rabinowitz, Xiaoqi Li, and Harvey S. Levin
Self and Identity
The Psychology of Change: Self-Affirmation and Social Psychological Intervention Geoffrey L. Cohen and David K. Sherman
Gender
Gender Similarities and Differences  **Janet Shibley Hyde** 373
Altruism and Aggression
Dehumanization and Infrahumanization  Nick Haslam and Steve Loughnan 399
The Sociocultural Appraisals, Values, and Emotions (SAVE) Framework of Prosociality: Core Processes from Gene to Meme  Dacher Keltner, Aleksandr Kogan, Paul K. Piff, and Sarina R. Saturn
Small Groups
Deviance and Dissent in Groups  Jolanda Jetten and Matthew J. Hornsey
Social Neuroscience
Cultural Neuroscience: Biology of the Mind in Cultural Contexts  Heejung S. Kim and Joni Y. Sasaki 487
Genes and Personality
A Phenotypic Null Hypothesis for the Genetics of Personality  Eric Turkheimer, Erik Pettersson, and Erin E. Horn
Environmental Psychology
Environmental Psychology Matters  **Robert Gifford**  541

Community Psychology
Socioecological Psychology Shigehiro Oishi
Subcultures Within Countries
Social Class Culture Cycles: How Three Gateway Contexts Shape Selves and Fuel Inequality  Nicole M. Stephens Hazel Rose Markus, and L. Taylor Phillips
Organizational Climate/Culture
(Un)Ethical Behavior in Organizations  Linda Klebe Treviño, Niki A. den Nieuwenboer, and Jennifer J. Kish-Gephart 635
Job/Work Design
Beyond Motivation: Job and Work Design for Development, Health, Ambidexterity, and More Sharon K. Parker 661
Selection and Placement
A Century of Selection  Ann Marie Ryan and Robert E. Ployhart
Personality and Coping Styles
Personality, Well-Being, and Health  Howard S. Friedman and Margaret L. Kern
Timely Topics
Properties of the Internal Clock: First- and Second-Order Principles of Subjective Time  Melissa J. Allman, Sundeep Teki, Timothy D. Griffiths, and Warren H. Meck
Indexes
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 55–65
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 55–65
Errata An online log of corrections to <i>Annual Review of Psychology</i> articles may be found at http://psych.AnnualReviews.org/errata.shtml